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Operating environment 
The global pharmaceutical industry’s revenues exceed USD 1 trillion and R&D investments USD 150 billion annually. 

Regardless of the massive investments, fewer than 50 new active pharmaceutical ingredients (API) enter the market 

annually. Most of the global pharmaceutical industry’s R&D projects fail. One of the main reasons for failure is the 

poor solubility and thereby poor bioavailability of medicines. Nanoform’s CESS® technology offers a solution to this 

problem by producing nano-sized drug particles. When the size of drug particles is reduced, their combined surface 

area in proportion to the mass of API increases, which improves their solubility and bioavailability. Nanoform’s in vivo 

studies in rodents have established the mutual dependence of particle size and API solubility. In clinical situations, this 

may also lead to the use of smaller doses and thereby fewer adverse effects. Nanoform believes that CESS® technology 

will help the global pharmaceutical industry to develop existing medicines further, extend the patent protection of 

originator medicinal products, and introduce new medicines for both new and existing indications.

A research and development project launched around 10 years ago has now progressed to a stage where  

Nanoform is looking to commercialize the results. In 2019, Nanoform focused on building its global sales organization 

and the first production line in compliance with Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP). Interest among the global 

pharmaceutical industry in CESS® technology has been high, and the company held more than 200 meetings with 

clients in 2019. Although sales and marketing processes in the pharmaceutical industry usually take a long time, the 

company signed agreements with three new clients in 2019: Astra Zeneca; a major US pharmaceutical company; and 

a UK-based biotechnology company. We expect the number of new clients to grow in 2020.

Nanoform offers R&D and contract manufacturing services to its global clients. The company nanoforms and  

analyses the active pharmaceutical ingredients (API) of its client companies using the company’s proprietary,  

patented CESS® technology. Nanoform’s strategy is to build its own production capacity for its clients; at this point, 

the company does not license its production technology to third parties.

In 2019, Nanoform received private equity investments mainly from institutional investors, which allowed the 

company to make significant investments in cleanroom facilities and production equipment, with the aim of obtaining 

a pharmaceutical manufacturer’s authorization from the Finnish Medicines Agency FIMEA. The company expects 

FIMEA to grant the authorization in 2020, after which the company will be able to manufacture nanoformed APIs  

in GMP-level facilities. These APIs will be used in Phase I–III clinical trials in humans as part of the clients’ drug  

development projects. 

In 2019, the company strengthened its organization in e.g. sales, production, project management, and financial 

administration in order to support the company’s strategic and operative objectives. By appointing international 

experts in the field to its Board of Directors the company has sought to support the company’s strategic growth targets. 

 

Nanoform participates actively in scientific and commercial conferences in the field. On November 6, 2019,  

the company won the prestigious Excellence in Pharma Award for Formulation in the pharmaceutical manufacturing 

industry’s CPhI conference. 

Report of the Board of Directors for the financial year ended December 31, 2019 

Key figures

EUR 1,000 2019 2018 2017

Revenue 49 235 65

EBITDA -6,900 -1,827 -419

Operating loss -7,344 -1,987 -486

Loss for the year -7,554 -2,074 -521

Equity ratio, % 61.7 61.3 -31.1

Gearing, % 45.9 63.5 -265.5

Gearing, %*) 83.5 100.1 138.8

Interest-bearing net debt -3,640 -3,194 656

Interest-bearing net debt,*) -6,626 -5,040 343

Total assets 12,910 8,209 793

Average number of personnel 33 17 12

Number of personnel at the end of the period 43 19 12

Employee benefits -4,359 -1,299 -426

Investments 1,858 322 165

*) Excluding lease liabilities
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Financial review

Revenue 
Nanoform’s full-year net revenue amounted to EUR 49 (2018: 235; 2017: 65) thousand. Revenue comprised proof-of-

concept type R&D services where the company nanoformed the APIs of client companies.  

 

Results 
Nanoform’s materials and services amounted to EUR 603 (2018: 162; 2017: 160) thousand. During the financial 

period, costs increased mainly because of higher expenses related to commercialization and materials and supplies 

used in the R&D activities and operations. Employee benefits increased to EUR 4,359 (2018: 1,299; 2017: 426) thousand, 

primarily due to growth in personnel, share-based payments, and performance bonuses related to financing rounds. 

The average number of personnel was 33 (2018: 17; 2017; 12) employees, and the number of personnel at the end 

of the period was 43 (2018: 17; 2017: 12) employees.

EBITDA was EUR -6,900 (2018: -1,827; 2017: -419) thousand. The decrease in EBIDTDA was mainly attributable to  

a 236 (2018: 205; 2017: 801) per cent increase in employee benefits and a 160 (2018: 1,624; 2017: 67) per cent 

increase in external services. 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses amounted to EUR 444 (2018: 160; 2017: 67) thousand, of which 

depreciations on property, plant and equipment accounted for EUR 417 (2018: 134; 2017: 43) thousand. The increase 

in depreciation is mainly due to an increase in leased premises and investments in machinery and equipment. Depre-

ciation of EUR 294 (2018: 93; 2017: 25) thousand was recognized on leased right-of-use assets presented under prop-

erty, plant and equipment. 

Operating loss amounted to EUR -7,344 (2018: -1,987; 2017: -486) thousand. Total finance income and expenses 

amounted to EUR -209 (2018: -87; 2017: -35) thousand. Loss for the year totaled EUR -7,554 (2018: -2,074; 2017: -521) 

thousand.  

 

Cash flow  
Nanoform’s net cash flow from operations amounted to EUR -5,798 (2018: -1,504; 2017: -669) thousand. The change 

in working capital was EUR 511 (2018: 393; 2017: -64) thousand. 

Nanoform’s cash flow from investing activities totaled EUR -1,877 (2018: -441; 2017: -92) thousand, consisting of 

investments into intangible assets and property, plant and equipment. Investing activities mainly comprised cleanroom 

facilities built during the financial year and equipment and machinery used in business operations.

Nanoform’s cash flow from financing activities amounted to EUR 9,415 (2018: 7,442; 2017: 474) thousand, including 

proceeds from the share issues of EUR 10,046 (2018: 7,977; 2017; 0) thousand. Transaction cost related to the share 

issue were EUR 359 (2018: 622; 2017: 0) thousand. In addition, the company financed its operations with loans from 

Business Finland of EUR 122 (2018: 143; 2017: 503) thousand. The impact of repayments for lease liabilities on the 

cash flow from financing activities was EUR -292 (2018: -56; 2017: -29) thousand. During the financial period,  

the company acquired treasury shares amounting to EUR 102 thousand.   

 

Financial position  
Nanoform’s equity at the end of the financial period 2019 totaled EUR 7,932 (2018: 5,033; 2017: -247) thousand. 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period 2019 were EUR 7,303 (2018: 5,595; 2017: 98) thousand. 

Interest-bearing net debt at the end of the financial period was EUR -3,640 (2018: -3,195; 2017: 656) thousand. 

Nanoform’s total assets at the end of the financial year 2019 were EUR 12,910 (2018: 8,209; 2017: 793) thousand. 

The company’s gearing ratio at the end of the financial year was 46 (2018: 64; 2017: -266) per cent.  

 

Investments, research and development
In 2019, the company invested (EUR 1,501 thousand) in GMP-level cleanroom facilities and production equipment, 

which is a prerequisite for being granted a pharmaceutical manufacturer’s authorization by FIMEA. 

Research and development expenses in the financial year totaled EUR 986 (2018: 865; 2017: 452) thousand,  

representing 13 (2018: 38; 2017: 62) per cent of total operating costs. In 2019, after several years of technology 

development, the company focused on building its global sales organization and GMP-level production organization. 

For this reason, direct R&D expenses decreased relatively when compared to the previous year. 

Supported by Business Finland, the company has carried out a project concerned with the development of production 

equipment and technology. This will help cut down the time between production batches and speed up the manufac-

ture of production batches, which will increase production capacity and facilitate more diverse production activities. 

Management 

The company’s Board of Directors, General Meeting of Shareholders, and auditors  
The Annual General Meeting (AGM) of Nanoform Finland Ltd was held in Helsinki on March 27, 2019. The AGM 

adopted the financial statements and discharged the accountable persons from liability for the financial year ended 

December 31, 2018. 

The members of Nanoform Finland Ltd’s Board of Directors were Mr. Rabbe Klemets (Chairman), Mr. Albert 

Hæggström, and Mr. Jouko Yliruusi until 27 March 2019, Mr. Miguel Calado (Vice Chairman) from March 27, 2019 

onwards, and Mr. Mads Laustsen from September 10, 2019 onwards. 

In autumn 2019, the Board appointed an Audit and Compensation Committee, consisting of Mr. Miguel Calado 

(Chairman), Mr. Rabbe Klemets and Mr. Mads Laustsen. 

According to the decisions made by the Annual General Meeting of Nanoform Finland Ltd on March 27, 2019, the 

fees paid to the members of the Board of Directors were as follows: Chairman; EUR 40,000 annually; Vice Chairman, 

EUR 30,000 annually; and other members, EUR 20,000 annually. 
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The auditor of the company is PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, with Tomi Moisio, Authorized Public Accountant,  

as the designated principal auditor. 

Related party transactions, including compensation and fees paid to key management personnel and expenses 

from the option programs as well as liabilities and commitments to related parties are presented in Note 26  

(Related party transactions) to the Financial Statements.  

CEO and Leadership Team
Nanoform Finland Ltd’s CEO is Professor Edward Hæggström. In addition to the CEO, the members of the company’s 

Leadership Team are: Mr. Niklas Sandler, Chief Technology Officer; Mr. Christian Jones, Chief Commercial Officer; 

Mr. Albert Hæggström, Chief Financial Officer; Mr. Goncalo Andrade, Chief of Business Operations; Mr. David Rowe, 

Head of Manufacturing; and Mr. Kai Falck, Senior Advisor.  

Decisions of the Annual General meeting
The Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on March 27, 2019 authorized the Board of Directors to decide on a share 

issue of up to 14,150,000 shares. Other decisions taken by the AGM are reported in sections Management and Equity 

and stock option rights of this report.

Personnel
At the end of the financial year, the company had 43 employees (2018: 19; 2017: 12). International, highly educated 

personnel is part of the company’s strategy. More than one in three employees hold a doctorate in physics, pharmacy, 

or biology, etc. The employees represent more than 10 different nationalities. Some of them have moved to Finland 

with their families.

General operating procedures   
The company has internal operating procedures which guide the company’s operations and practices. The company 

has a quality management system as required by GMP. Procurement policy is described as part of the company’s 

quality management system. A description of the personnel policy is included in the company’s HR documents. The 

company also has in place an anti-corruption policy and guidelines directing the activities of the company’s Leadership 

Team and Audit Committee. 

The CEO is accountable to the Board of Directors for the organization and the planning, implementation and 

monitoring of risk management, as well as related reporting. The company’s Leadership Team supports the CEO  

in this work.  

 

Short-term risks and uncertainty factors
Nanoform operates in a heavily regulated industry (pharmaceutical industry). The company’s business is based on  

a new technology which has not yet been approved under GMP or applied in trials in humans. As Nanoform is  

a company still at the research and development stage, the viability of its business model has not yet been proven, 

and the company has been operating at a loss. The most important business-related risks are associated with the 

company’s growth targets and their achievement with the company’s chosen strategy. Industry-related risks are 

mainly associated with a target market which is both highly regulated and conservative and where introduction  

of new technologies happens slowly. 

Risks associated with the company’s financial position mainly comprise liquidity, currency, interest rate, and  

credit risks. Risks related to legislation, rules and regulatory compliance are associated with the company’s sector  

of industry; the key risk relates to the granting of the pharmaceutical manufacturer’s authorization in 2020.   

Going concern
The company’s management has prepared financial forecasts for the development of revenues, expenses, and  

investments within the next 12 months. The forecasts are based on the assumption that the company will continue 

to develop and commercialize its nanoforming technology also in the future, which requires considerable invest-

ments from the company. Without additional financing, the company’s current liquid assets are insufficient to 

continue activities according to the growth and investment plan until the end of 2020. Should the company fail to 

obtain additional financing in 2020, the management expects that by making considerable adjustments to its opera-

tions by way of reducing costs, the company will have sufficient liquid assets to continue operating without growth 

investments until the end of 2020. For this reason, the company’s financial statements have been prepared on a 

going concern basis.

Primarily, the company seeks further opportunities to commercialize its nanoforming technology and where  

necessary, to obtain private equity or debt financing. The company’s management continues to investigate and 

evaluate potential financing options. On the basis of discussions with several existing and new investors the man-

agement believes that the company is well positioned to ensure sufficient financing as necessary for growth invest-

ments in 2020. As no binding decisions on additional financing have been made by the date of approval of the 

financial statements, the adequacy of financing represents a material uncertainty factor which may give significant 

cause to suspect the company may not be able to continue its operations. If the company is unable to obtain addi-

tional financing, in which case the going concern basis of preparation would no longer apply, adjustments would be 

required including to reduce balance sheet values of assets to their recoverable amounts, or to recognize for further 

liabilities that might arise.
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Risks and risk management
The company’s risks have been described in an in-house risk analysis tool, and the company’s internal practices are 

designed to ensure that high-quality information related to the company’s operations is available at the right time 

in the company’s decision-making process. The company seeks to manage technology risks by protecting key innova-

tions, products to be commercialized and services by means of patents and trademarks. An analysis of financial risks 

is included in the Notes to the Financial Statements, and the company monitors the eventual realization of financial 

risks by analyzing its cash position in different currencies, by monitoring changes in the markets, and by analyzing 

the clients’ liquidity. Monitoring of the quality of operations and the management of associated risks has been inte-

grated into Nanoform’s GMP guidelines.   

 

Significant pending disputes  
The company is not aware of any ongoing disputes or litigations which might have a significant impact on the com-

pany’s financial position.  

 
Equity and option rights  
Nanoform Finland Ltd has 42,095,365 shares. Each share entitles to one vote at the General Meeting of Shareholders 

and an equal share in the dividends. Based on authorization granted by the General Meeting, the company carried 

out a directed share issue on June 10, 2019, with subscriptions made for 5,457,345 shares at a price of EUR 1.42 

per share and for 1,600,000 shares at a price of SEK 15.10 per share. The total number of shares subscribed for was 

7,057,345, and the overall subscription price amounted to EUR 9,687 thousand, less transaction costs of EUR 359 

thousand. The proceeds from the share issue were recognized in the reserve for invested non-restricted equity. On 

May 10, 2019, the company acquired 900,000 treasury shares, which were nullified on the date of acquisition. The 

shares were acquired from an employee on the basis of the authorization granted to the Board of Directors by the 

General Meeting. The purchase price was EUR 102 thousand. The company does not hold any treasury shares at the 

moment. 

Under the shareholder’s agreement concerning the company, certain shareholders have priority to distributable 

funds if the company enters into liquidation or to the consideration received from the sale of the company’s share 

stock or business. Further information on the clauses of the shareholder’s agreement is included in Note 19 (Equity) 

to the Financial Statements. 

On March 27, 2019, the Nanoform General Meeting decided to grant option rights to the members of the Board 

of Directors and authorized the Board to decide on the issue of option rights to key personnel. The number of 

option rights granted to the Board members, excluding the Chief Financial Officer, is 350,000. The number of option 

rights granted to other key personnel is 905,000. Nanoform also has 1,300,000 outstanding, available options, which 

were granted to investors in connection with the financing round in 2016. Further information on option programs 

is included in Note 20 (Share-based payments) and Note 19 (Shareholder’s equity) to the Financial Statements.

Owners

Shares Number of owners Share of ownership

1–10,000 12 0.1%

10,000–99,999 91 8.2%

100,000–999,999 31 23.8%

>1,000,000 7 67.9%

Owners total 141 100.0%

Future outlook  
Nanoform invests considerable resources in establishing new client relationships and maintaining existing relationships. 

The company seeks to build long-standing client relationships with companies in the global pharmaceutical and 

biotechnology industry. In 2020, the company expects to win a larger number of new clients than in 2019 when the 

company won three clients. The company expects to receive a pharmaceutical manufacturer’s authorization from 

Fimea in 2020, after which it will be able to supply clients with nanoformed APIs for clinical trials. The company 

focuses on the development of potent, high value density medicines with its clients. In 2020, the company will also 

invest in the planning and construction of new non-GMP and GMP production lines, which will make it possible to 

increase and diversify production.  

 

Events after the reporting date  
Nanoform has established a subsidiary, Nanoform USA Inc., which acts as the sales company in the US market and 

employs Head of US Sales among its personnel. In 2020, Head of US Sales was also appointed to the company’s  

Leadership Team.

Board of Directors’ proposal for the distribution of profits  
The Board of Directors proposes to the General Meeting that the loss for the year, EUR -7,553,521, be transferred 

to the accumulated deficit and that no dividend be paid. The company’s distributable equity on December 31, 2019 

totaled EUR 7,929 (2018: 5,031; 2017: -250) thousand. 
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EUR Notes
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2019
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2018 (restated)
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2017 (restated)

Revenue 4 49,093 235,000 65,000

Other operating income 6 231,335 54,652 180,605

Materials and services 7 -603,431 -161,624 -160,378

Employee benefits 8 -4,358,917 -1,298,723 -426,203

Depreciation, amortization and  
impairment losses 10 -444,248 -159,924 -66,746

Other operating expenses 9 -2,218,098 -656,376 -78,394

Total expenses -7,624,694 -2,276,648 -731,720

Operating loss -7,344,266 -1,986,996 -486,115

Finance income 11 451 95 11

Finance expenses 11 -209,707 -87,386 -35,169

Total finance income and expenses -209,256 -87,290 -35,158

Loss before tax -7,553,521 -2,074,286 -521,273

Income tax 12 0 0 0

Loss for the year -7,553,521 -2,074,286 -521,273

EUR Notes
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2019
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2018 (restated)
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2017 (restated)

Loss for the period attributable to

Equite holders of the Company -7,553,521 -2,074,286 -521,273

Total comprehensive loss for the year -7,553,521 -2,074,286 -521,273

Total comprehensive income 
attributable to

Equite holders of the Company -7,553,521 -2,074,286 -521,273

Loss per share 13

Basic and diluted loss per share, EUR -0.19 -0.07 -0.02

Statement of comprehensive income

Financial statements
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EUR Notes Dec 31, 2019
Dec 31, 2018 

(restated)
Dec 31, 2017 

(restated)
Jan 1, 2017 

(restated)

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 14 153,729 166,330 177,264 163,735

Property, plant and equipment 15 4,972,148 2,179,358 442,707 243,772

Other receivables 16 24,085 10,125 8,964 5,805

Total non-current assets 5,149,963 2,355,813 628,935 413,312

Current assets

Trade receivables 17 20,000 160,000 65,000 6,200

Other receivables 17 378,470 79,428 0 39,419

Prepaid expenses and  
accrued income 17 58,754 18,456 992 158

Cash and cash equivalents 18 7,302,666 5,594,974 98,007 385,636

Total current assets 7,759,890 5,852,858 163,998 431,413

Total assets 12,909,852 8,208,671 792,934 844,725

EUR Notes Dec 31, 2019
Dec 31, 2018 

(restated)
Dec 31, 2017 

(restated)
Jan 1, 2017 

(restated)

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 19 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500

Reserve for invested unre-
stricted equity 19 17,706,692 8,020,160 665,411 665,411

Accumulated deficit -2,223,845 -914,953 -393,598 -393,598

Loss for the year -7,553,521 -2,074,286 -521,274 0

Total equity 7,931,826 5,033,422 -246,961 274,313

Non-current liabilities

R&D loans 22 599,129 554,537 440,729 130,235

Lease liabilities 22 2,573,024 1,656,396 285,616 210,758

Advances received 0 20,249 0 0

Trade payables 22 0 58,719 104,930 157,240

Total non-current liabilities 3,172,153 2,289,901 831,274 498,234

Current liabilities

Provisions 23 19,079 0 0 0

R&D loans 22 77,500 0 0 0

Lease liabilities 22 413,073 189,588 27,250 9,385

Advances received 55,143 0 0 0

Trade payables 22 570,691 391,018 54,903 39,040

Other liabilities 94,498 23,152 344 5,323

Accrued expenses 24 575,889 281,590 126,124 18,431

Total current liabilities 1,805,873 885,349 208,620 72,178

Total liabilities 4,978,026 3,175,250 1,039,895 570,412

Total equity and liabilities 12,909,852 8,208,671 792,934 844,725

Statement of financial position
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EUR Share capital
Reserve for invested  

unrestricted equity Accumulated deficit Total

Balance at Jan 1, 2017 (IFRS) 2,500 665,411 -413,843 254,068

Impact of restatements, Jan 1, 2017 20,245 20,245

Balance at Jan 1, 2017 (restated) 2,500 665,411 -393,598 274,313

Loss for the year 2017 (restated) -521,273 -521,273

Balance at Dec 31, 2017 (restated) 2,500 665,411 -914,872 -246,961

Loss for the year 2018 (restated) -2,074,286 -2,074,286

Transactions with equity holders of the Company

Acquisition of treasury shares, Jan 22, 2018	  -81 -81

Share issue, Jan 24, 2018 1,012,500 1,012,500

Share issue, Jun 21, 2018*) 6,342,249 6,342,249

Balance at Dec 31, 2018 (restated) 2,500 8,020,160 -2,989,240 5,033,422

Loss for the year 2019 -7,553,521 -7,553,521

Transactions with equity holders of the Company

Share-based payments 866,912 866,912

Acquisition of treasury shares, May 10, 2019 -101,519 -101,519

Share issue, Jun 10, 2019*) 9,686,531 9,686,531

Balance at Dec 31, 2019 2,500 17,706,692 -9,777,368 7,931,826

*) Net of transaction costs in 2019 EUR 359,302 (2018: EUR 622,231)

Statement of changes in equity
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EUR Notes
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2019
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2018 (restated)
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2017 (restated)

Cash flow from operating activities

Loss before tax -7,553,521 -2,074,286 -521,273

Adjustment for:

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 10 444,248 159,924 66,746

Finance income and expenses 11 209,256 87,290 35,158

Share-based payments 8 866,912 0 0

Other adjustments*) -212,256 -54,652 -180,532

Change in net working capital:

Trade and other receivables 17 -29,960 -191,892 -55,865

Trade payables and other liabilities 22 540,992 585,139 -8,581

Change in other receivables (long-term) -13,960 -1,161 -3,159

Interest paid 11 -49,922 -14,347 -1,681

Interest received 11 451 95 11

Net cash used in operating activities -5,797,759 -1,503,890 -669,177

Cash flow from investing activities

Payments for intangible assets 14 -73,880 -61,205 -37,624

Payments for property, plant and equipment 15 -1,803,704 -379,463 -54,397

Net cash used in investing activities -1,877,583 -440,668 -92,022

EUR Notes
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2019
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2018 (restated)
Jan 1–Dec 31, 

2017 (restated)

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from share issues 19 10,045,833 7,976,981 0

Transaction costs from share issues 19 -359,302 -622,232 0

Acquisition of treasury shares -101,519 -81 0

Proceeds from R&D loans 22 121,903 143,000 502,807

Repayment of lease liabilities 21 -292,120 -56,143 -29,237

Net cash from financing activities 9,414,796 7,441,525 473,570

Net increase (+) decrease (-) in cash and  
cash equivalents 1,739,454 5,496,968 -287,629

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 5,594,974 98,007 385,636

Effects of exchange rates on cash and  
cash equivalents -31,763 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 7,302,666 5,594,974 98,007

*) Other adjustments in the statement of cash flows

 
EUR

Jan 1–Dec 31, 
2019

Jan 1–Dec 31, 
2018 (restated)

Jan 1–Dec 31, 
2017 (restated)

Other operating income - government grants -231,335 -54,652 -180,532

Other operating expenses - provision for onerous contract 19,079 0 0

Total -212,256 -54,652 -180,532

Statement of cash flows
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1 Background     
Nanoform Finland Oy is a Finnish limited liability company organized under the laws of Finland offering expert ser-

vices in nanotechnology and drug particle engineering for the international pharma industry. The headquarters is 

located at Viikinkaari 4, 00790 Helsinki. The Company’s commercial operations are at early stage and in the year 2019 

its affairs have been consisted of both internal research and development activities and “proof of concept” type of 

research and development services provided to customers. Nanoform Finland has 43 employees at the end of 2019.

The Board of Directors approved these financial statements for issue on March 10, 2020. According to the Finnish 

Companies Act, the shareholders have the opportunity to approve or reject the financial statements at the Annual 

General Meeting held after their publication. Furthermore, the Annual General Meeting can decide on modifica-

tions to be made to the financial statements.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

as adopted by the European Union, conforming to the IAS standards and IFRS standards as well as IFRIC interpre-

tations applicable as of December 31, 2019. The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis 

unless otherwise disclosed in the accounting policies.

Nanoform’s financial statements are presented in euros, which is Company’s functional and presentation currency. 

Figures presented in these financial statements have been rounded from exact figures and therefore the sum of fig-

ures presented individually can deviate from the presented sum figure. Foreign currency transactions are translated 

into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction date. Foreign exchange gains and 

losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are recognized in finance income and expenses in the 

statement of comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured based on initial cost in a foreign cur-

rency are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the transaction date.

2.2 Restatements of previously issued financial statements
Subsequent to the original issuance of financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, the company 

has adjusted prior periods. The 2018 financial statements, as initially reported, have therefore been amended and 

restated as follows:

Notes to the financial statements

1) Leases
		  a.	� The company has reassessed the discount rate applied previously in determining the present value of lease 

liabilities. The incremental borrowing rate used in previous year’s discounting has been higher than such 

Company’s incremental borrowing rate that takes into account the estimated collateral value of the right-

of-use asset. Consequently, the Company adjusts both right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the open-

ing IFRS statement of financial position as of January 1, 2017 and for all subsequent reporting periods. 

The impact of the adjustments to the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as of January 1, 2017 is EUR 

60.0 thousand. As of December 31, 2017, the right-of-use assets are adjusted by EUR 83.2 thousand and 

lease liabilities by EUR 79.3 thousand and as of December 31, 2018 the right-of-use assets are adjusted by 

EUR 489.0 thousand and lease liabilities by EUR 481.9 thousand. The depreciations and interest expenses 

in the statement of comprehensive income have been adjusted in total by EUR -12.3 thousand and EUR 

3.9 thousand for the financial years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. The 

adjustments impact also the presentation of the statement of cash flows. The line items ‘Loss before taxes’ 

and ‘Adjustments for depreciations and impairments’ in the cash flow from operating activities are higher 

and ‘Adjustment for finance income and expenses’ is lower.  

		  b.	� The Company had prematurely recognized a lease liability and right-of-use asset during the financial 

year ended December 31, 2018 for a lease contract whereby part of premises were made available to the 

Company only on September 1, 2019, which is the lease commencement date for the premises. Both the 

right-of-use asset and the lease liability have been derecognized from the statement of financial position 

as of December 31, 2018 for premises that were made available on September 1, 2019 and presented as 

off-balance sheet commitments as of December 31, 2018 (see Note 25 Contingencies and commitments). 

The lease liability and right-of-use asset are recognized in the balance as of September 1, 2019, which is 

the commencement date of the lease. The adjustment of EUR 655.8 thousand decreases the right-of-use 

asset and the lease liability in the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2018. The adjustment 

has no impact on the statement of comprehensive income or the statement of cash flows.

 

		  c.	� During the financial year ended December 31, 2018, the Company leased premises with lease-free period for 

the first months of a lease and the obligation to pay leases started only effective on January 1, 2019. Initially, 

the Company recognized the right-of-use asset and the lease liability for these premises as of September 1, 

2018, which is the commencement date of the lease. However, the Company did to recognize the depreci-

ations for the right-of-use asset and interest expense for the lease liability during the financial year ended 

December 31, 2018. The depreciations and interest expenses in the statement of comprehensive income have 
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been adjusted by EUR -44.2 thousand and by EUR -11.7 thousand, respectively for the financial year ended 

December 31, 2018. The adjustments impact the value of the right-of-use asset by EUR -44.2 thousand and 

the lease liability by EUR 11.7 thousand in the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2018. The 

adjustments have no impact on the 2018 statement of cash flows as no lease payments were made during 

the financial year 2018. However, the adjustments have an impact on the presentation of operating cash 

flow as line items “Loss before taxes” and ‘Adjustment for depreciation, amortization and impairment’ and 

‘Adjustments for finance income and expenses’ are higher.

2) Government grants
The Company has adjusted amounts recognized during previous periods for government grants received in form 

of indirect government assistance through the government loans from Business Finland with interest-rates below 

the market rate. The adjustments for the grants received in form of below-market rate loans relates to the recognition 

of grant income on an accrual basis to align with the recognition of the expenses that the government grant is 

intended to compensate. Previously, the indirect interest related grant was recognized only at the time the R&D 

loan was withdrawn. Based on additional information and revised calculations, the Company has adjusted the  

recognition of the grant between the financial periods. 

In the opening IFRS balance sheet as of January 1, 2017, the adjustments impact R&D loans by EUR -0.5 thousand and 

other receivables by EUR 35.6 thousand. The net impact of EUR 35.2 thousand is recognized to accumulated deficit in the 

opening IFRS statement of financial position as of January 1, 2017. As of December 31, 2017, the adjustments impact R&D 

loans by EUR 4.3 thousand and advances received by EUR -114.0 thousand. As of December 31, 2018, the adjustments 

impact R&D loans by EUR 5.0 thousand and advances received by EUR -41.8 thousand. In the statement of comprehensive 

income, other operating income for the financial year 2017 is EUR 78.4 thousand higher and EUR 65.4 thousand lower for 

financial year 2018. The adjustments have no impact on the Company’s cash flow, but they impact on the presentation of 

operating cash flows.

3) Patents
		  a.	� In 2015 the Company acquired patents with a contract, in which the consideration was settled in several 

instalments during years 2015-2019. Previously, the Company had recognized the cost of the patents on 

a cash flow basis. Since the Company received the control over the patents already in 2015 and the assets 

acquired fulfilled other recognition criteria for an intangible asset, the Company has adjusted the intan-

gible assets and trade payables in opening IFRS statement of financial position as of January 1, 2017. The 

adjustments increased intangible assets as of January 1, 2017 by EUR 149.0 thousand, trade payables by 

EUR 157.2 thousand and the net impact of EUR 8.2 thousand was recognized in the accumulated deficit. As 

of December 31, 2017, the adjustments increased intangible assets by EUR 133.3 thousand and trade pay-

ables by EUR 157.4 thousand and as of December 31, 2018 the adjustments increased intangible assets by 

EUR 68.0 thousand and trade payables by EUR 111.2 thousand. Under IFRS the liability has been discounted 

to present value. The adjustment has no impact on the Company’s cash flow, but it has impact on the pres-

entation of operating cash flows.

 

		  b.	� Further, the Company has revised the useful economic lives of patents and concluded, that the five-year 

amortization period previously used did not reflect the average legal protection period of the patents. The 

Company has therefore lengthened the amortization period for the patents to 10 years and adjusted the 

amortizations retrospectively effective from the acquisition dates. As a result, the carrying value of intan-

gible assets is EUR 2.3 thousand higher in the opening IFRS statement of financial position as of January 1, 

2017. As of December 31, 2017, and December 31, 2018 the carrying value of the patents is EUR 6.7 thousand 

and EUR 10.8 thousand higher, respectively. During the financial periods 2017 and 2018, the amortizations 

have been adjusted by EUR 4.4 and 4.1 thousand, respectively. The adjustments have no impact on the  

Company’ cash flows, but they have an impact on the presentation of operating cash flows and line items 

‘Loss before taxes’ and ‘Adjustment for depreciation, amortization and impairment losses’ are higher. 

4) Property, plant and equipment
The Company has capitalized acquisition costs of certain machinery and equipment, which were previously recog-

nized as expenses. As a result of the adjustments, the carrying value of property, plant and equipment is EUR 115.7 

and 84.7 thousand higher as of December 31, 2017 and as of December 31, 2018, respectively. For the financial years 

2017 and 2018 the depreciation expense increased by EUR 11.5 thousand and EUR 31.0 thousand, respectively, and 

the materials and services decreased by EUR 54.4 thousand and EUR 72.8 thousand, respectively. The adjustments 

have no impact on the Company’s cash flows, but they impact the presentation of operating cash flows.

5) Deferred taxes	
The Company has adjusted the deferred taxes to the extent the deferred tax assets have been recognized during 

previous reporting periods. After netting of deferred taxes, the Company has not recognized any deferred tax assets 

from the temporary differences deductible in the taxation due to uncertainty relating to their utilization. 

6) Classification changes in the statement of financial position
The Company has adjusted the classification of certain liabilities related to personnel public authorities in the 

statement of financial position as of December 31, 2018. The adjustments decreased other receivables by EUR 15.1 

thousand and other liabilities by EUR 45.6 thousand and increased accrued expenses by EUR 30.5 thousand. The 

adjustments do not have an impact on the comprehensive income statement. The adjustments have no impact on 

the Company’s cash flows but they impact the presentation of operating cash flows.  
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EUR Note*)
Reported**)  

2018 Restatement
Restated  

2018
Reported**)  

2017 Restatement
Restated  

2017

Revenue 235,000 0 235,000 65,000 0 65,000

Other operating income 2 120,048 -65,396 54,652 102,235 78,370 180,605

Materials and services 4 -234,414 72,790 -161,624 -214,775 54,397 -160,378

Employee benefits -1,298,723 0 -1,298,723 -426,202 0 -426,203

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 1a, 1b, 3a, 3b, 4 -53,157 -106,767 -159,924 -37,087 -29,659 -66,746

Other operating expenses 1a -671,859 15,483 -656,376 -78,394 0 -78,394

Total expenses -2,258,153 -18,495 -2,276,648 -756,458 24,738 -731,720

Operating loss -1,903,105 -83,891 -1,986,996 -589,223 103,108 -486,115

Finance income 95 0 95 11 0 11

Finance expenses 1a, 1c, 2, 3a -72,478 -14,908 -87,386 -41,767 6,598 -35,169

Total finance income and expenses -72,383 -14,908 -87,290 -41,757 6,598 -35,158

Loss before tax -1,975,488 -98,798 -2,074,286 -630,980 109,707 -521,273

Income taxes 0 0 0 0 0 0

Changes in deferred taxes 5 1,795 -1,795 0 1,487 -1,487 0

Income taxes 1,795 -1,795 0 1,487 -1,487 0

Loss for the year -1,973,693 -100,593 -2,074,286 -629,495 108,219 -521,273

Loss per share        

Basic and diluted loss per share, EUR -0.06 -0.01 -0.07 -0.02 0.00 -0.02

*) Reference to Note is related to 2.2. Restatements of previously issued financial statements

**) Original statements of comprehensive income presented in the financial statement in 2018

Restated statement of comprehensive income
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EUR Note*)
Reported**)  

2018 Restatement
Restated  

2018
Reported**)  

 2017 Restatement
Restated  

2017
Reported**)  

2017 Restatement
Restated  

Jan 1, 2017

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 3a,3b 96,578 69,752 166,330 46,326 130,938 177,264 21,433 142,302 163,735

Property, plant and equipment 1a,1b,1c,4 2,305,596 -126,238 2,179,358 243,818 198,889 442,707 183,821 59,951 243,772

Other receivables 10,125 0 10,125 8,964 0 8,964 5,805 0 5,805

Deferred tax receivables 5 3,280 -3,280 0 1,485 -1,485 0 0 0 0

Total non-current assets 2,415,579 -59,767 2,355,813 300,593 328,342 628,935 211,059 202,253 413,312

Current assets

Trade receivables 160,000 0 160,000 65,000 0 65,000 6,200 0 6,200

Other receivables 2,6 94,494 -15,066 79,428 0 0 0 3,769 35,650 39,419

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 18,456 0 18,456 992 0 992 158 0 158

Cash and cash equivalents  5,594,974 0 5,594,974 98,007 0 98,007 385,636 0 385,636

Total current assets 5,867,924 -15,066 5,852,858 163,999 0 163,998 395,763 35,650 431,413

Total assets	 8,283,504 -74,832 8,208,671 464,592 328,343 792,934 606,822 237,903 844,725

Restated statement of financial position

*) Reference to Note is related to 2.2. Restatements of previously issued financial statements

**) Original statements of financial position presented in the financial statement in 2018
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EUR Note*)
Reported**)  

2018 Restatement
Restated  

2018
Reported**)  

 2017 Restatement
Restated  

2017
Reported**)  

2017 Restatement
Restated  

Jan 1, 2017

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 2,500 0 2,500 2,500 0 2,500 2,500 0 2,500

Reserve for invested unrestricted 
equity 8,020,160 0 8,020,160 665,411 0 665,411 665,411 0 665,411

Accumulated deficit -1,043,419 128,466 -914,953 -413,843 20,245 -393,598 -413,844 20,246 -393,598

Loss for the year  -1,973,693 -100,593 -2,074,286 -629,495 108,221 -521,274 0 0 0

Total equity 5,005,548 27,873 5,033,422 -375,427 128,466 -246,961 254,067 20,246 274,313

Non-current liabilities

R&D loans 2 549,561 4,976 554,537 436,395 4,334 440,729 129,769 466 130,235

Lease liabilities 1a,1b,1c 1,897,600 -241,204 1,656,396 218,894 66,722 285,616 150,807 59,952 210,758

Advances received 0 0 20,249 0 0 0 0 0 0

Trade payables  0 58,719 58,719 0 104,930 104,930 0 157,240 157,240

Total non-current liabilities 2,447,160 -177,508 2,289,901 655,289 175,985 831,274 280,576 217,658 498,234

Current liabilities

Lease liabilities 1a 110,398 79,190 189,588 14,630 12,620 27,250 9,385 0 9,385

Advances received 2 62,071 -41,822 114,020 -114,020 0 0 0 0

Trade payables 3a 338,518 52,500 391,018 2,403 52,500 54,903 39,040 0 39,040

Other liabilities 6 68,750 -45,598 23,152 344 0 344 5,323 0 5,323

Accrued expenses 6 251,059 30,531 281,590 53,333 72,791 126,124 18,431 0 18,431

Total current liabilities 830,796 74,802 885,349 184,730 23,890 208,620 72,179 0 72,178

Total liabilities  3,277,956 -102,707 3,175,250 840,019 199,876 1,039,895 352,755 217,658 570,412

Total equity and liabilities 8,283,504 -74,833 8,208,671 464,592 328,342 792,934 606,822 237,904 844,725

*) Reference to Note is related to 2.2. Restatements of previously issued financial statements

**) Original statements of financial position presented in the financial statement in 2018

Restated statement of financial position
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EUR Note*)
Reported**)  

 2018 Restatement
Restated   

2018
Reported**)  

2017 Restatement
Restated   

2017

Cash flow from operating activities

Loss before tax -1,975,488 -98,798 -2,074,286 -630,980 109,707 -521,273

Adjustment for:

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 1a,1b,3a,3b,4 53,157 106,767 159,924 37,087 29,659 66,746

Interest expense 1a,1c,2,3a 72,383 14,907 87,290 41,757 -6,599 35,158

Other adjustments 1a,1b,1c -120,048 65,396 -54,652 -102,235 -78,297 -180,532

Loss before change in working capital -1,969,996 88,272 -1,881,724 -654,371 54,470 -599,901

Change in net working capital:

Trade and other receivables 2 -206,959 15,067 -191,892 -55,865 0 -55,865

Trade payables and other liabilities 4 600,105 -14,966 585,139 -8,581 0 -8,581

Interest paid 1a,1c,2,3a -7,957 -6,390 -14,347 -5,026 3,345 -1,681

Interest received 95 0 95 11 0 11

Change in other receivables (long-term)  -1,161 0 -1,161 -3,159 0 -3,159

Net cash used in operating activities -1,585,873 81,983 -1,503,890 -726,991 57,814 -669,177

Payments for property, plant and equipment 1a,1b,1c,4 -67,494 6,289 -61,205 -37,814 190 -37,624

Payments for tangible assets 1 -306,673 -72,790 -379,463 0 -54,397 -54,397

Net cash used in investing activities -374,167 -66,501 -440,668 -37,814 -54,208 -92,022

Restated statement of cash flows

*) Reference to Note is related to 2.2. Restatements of previously issued financial statements

**) Original statements of cash flows presented in the financial statement in 2018
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EUR Note*)
Reported**)  

 2018 Restatement
Restated   

2018
Reported**)  

2017 Restatement
Restated   

2017

Cashflow from financig activities

Proceeds from share issues 7,976,981 0 7,976,981 0 0

Share issue transaction cost -622,232 0 -622,232 0 0

Acquisition of treasury shares -81 0 -81 0 0

Proceeds from R&D loans 2 143,000 0 143,000 506,414 -3,607 502,807

Repayments of lease liabilities 1a -40,660 -15,483 -56,143 -29,237 0 -29,237

Net cash from financing activities 7,457,008 -15,483 7,441,525 477,177 -3,607 473,570

Net increase (+) decrease (-) in cash and cash 
equivalents 5,496,968 0 5,496,968 -287,628 -1 -287,629

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 98,007 0 98,007 385,636 0 385,636

Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 5,594,974 0 5,594,974 98,007 0 98,007

*) Reference to Note is related to 2.2. Restatements of previously issued financial statements

**) Original statements of cash flows presented in the financial statement in 2018

Restated statement of cash flows
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2.3 Going concern  
Nanoform’s management has assessed the Company’s ability to continue its operations as going concern in the fore-

seeable future. The Company has started to provide “proof of concept” type services to its customers, in addition to 

its on-going research and development and administrative activities. During the financial year 2019, the Company 

has made significant investments to its production technology and is currently applying for GMP (Good Manufactur-

ing Practice) quality certification that will enable the Company to commercialize its nanoforming technology also 

for clinical trials in humans.

Nanoforms loss for the financial year ended December 31, 2019 was EUR 7,554 thousand and equity totaled EUR 

7,932 thousand including accumulated deficit of EUR 9,777 thousand. Cash flow from operating activities for the  

financial year ended December 31, 2019 was EUR 5,798 thousand negative and cash outflows for investing activities 

was EUR 1,878 thousand. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents totaled EUR 7,303 thousand on December 31, 2019.

In the past, the Company has financed its development activities mainly with funds raised through share issues.  

During 2018 and in June 2019 the Company had proceeds of EUR 7,355 thousand and EUR 9,687 thousand, respectively, 

from share issues (see Note 21). In addition to equity financing, the Company has obtained funding from R&D loans. 

Company’s management have developed financial forecasts for revenues, expenses and investments for the period 

covering the next twelve months. These forecasts are based on the assumption that the Company will continue 

development and commercialization of its nanoforming technology also in future, which will require significant 

investments. The Company’s liquid funds of EUR 7,303 thousand at year-end are not sufficient enough to fully cover 

its ambitious growth and investment plan for calendar year 2020 without additional external financing. Hence, 

should the Company not obtain additional funding during 2020, the Company would need to significantly scale 

down growth and investment plans as well as reduce overall costs. With this in mind the financial statements have 

been prepared on a going concern basis.

As part of its growth plan and change in focus from technology development to commercialization of its technol-

ogy, the Company plans to raise new equity in 2020. Based on discussions with several existing and new institutional 

investors the management estimates that the Company has good opportunities to secure sufficient new capital 

during 2020 to enable its growth and investment plans in foreseeable future. However, as there are no binding 

commitments for such financing at the date of approval of these financial statements, these circumstances represent 

material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as going concern. Should 

the Company be unable to obtain further financing such that the going concern basis of preparation were no longer 

appropriate, adjustments would be required including to reduce balance sheet values of assets to their recoverable 

amounts, or to recognize for further liabilities that might arise.

2.4 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported consistently with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 

maker. Nanoform’s Chief Executive Officer reviews the operating results regularly and makes the decisions about the 

allocation of resources and to assess overall performance. Consequently, the Chief Executive Officer is identified as 

the chief operating decision maker. The Chief Executive Officer manages the Company as one integrated business 

and hence, the Company has one operating and reportable segment.

2.5 Revenue recognition
Nanoform’s revenue consists of “proof of concept” type of research and development services provided to the  

Company’s customers, in which the Company nanoforms drug compounds to the customers. The Company’s customer 

contracts can include one or multiple performance obligations. In the contracts every, separate nanoformed drug 

ingredient is considered to be a separate performance obligation, as the customer can receive benefit from each  

separate nanoformed compound and each nanoformed compound is distinct from the other promises in the contract.

The transaction prices in Nanoform’s customer contracts are fixed. The terms of payment and payment periods in 

customer contracts vary, but payment time is nonetheless clearly below one year. Consequently, customer contracts 

do not include a significant financing component. In case a contract includes several performance obligations,  

Nanoform will allocate the fixed transaction price in the contract to different performance obligations based on 

their stand-alone selling prices. Revenue is recognized to the extent Nanoform expects to be entitled to consideration 

in exchange for the services provided.

Nanoform recognizes revenue from customer contracts as the Company fulfils the performance obligation by 

performing the promised service. Nanoform’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the 

Company and Nanoform has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. Consequently, 

the revenue is recognized over time. Nanoform measures the progress towards complete satisfaction of the perfor-

mance obligations by applying the input method, in which the revenue is recognized based on the costs incurred 

relative to the total estimated costs of the performance obligation. The Company views that the used method best 

describes the transfer of control for the services provided. Estimated costs and revenues will be re-assessed regularly 

during performing the services. Revisions in profit estimates as well as projected potential losses on contracts are 

charged through the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they become known.

Nanoform does not have costs for obtaining or fulfilling the customer contracts. For further information on  

revenue recognition, see Note 4.
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2.6 Research and development expenses
Research and development costs are recognized as expenses when internally developed intangible assets do not 

meet the criteria for capitalization. Development costs are capitalized when a development project is likely to gen-

erate economic benefits for the company and the products are assessed to be technically feasible and commercially 

viable. Development projects are related to new or essentially improved nanoparticle technology. The Company has 

not capitalized development costs during 2019, 2018 or 2017, as there is no evidence on intangible asset’s technical 

viability or its ability to generate future economic benefits until the Company has capability to produce GMP (Good 

Manufacturing Practice) level materials for clinical trials. In 2019 financial statements, development expenses of  

EUR 986.0 thousand have been expensed in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.7 Income taxes
The Company’s income taxes include the Company’s taxes based on taxable profit/loss for the period, together  

with tax adjustments for previous periods and the change in deferred taxes. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized on all temporary differences arising between the tax bases  

and carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax has been determined using the tax rates enacted at  

the balance sheet date, and as the rates change, at the known new rate. Deferred tax asset is recognized to the 

extent that it is probable that it can be utilized against future taxable income. At the reporting date, the Company 

has not recognized deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty that they can be utilized. 

2.8 Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of patents and software licenses. Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated 

amortization and impairment losses and are recognized in the statement of financial position if it is probable that 

the future economic benefits that are attributable to the assets will flow to the company and the cost of the assets 

can be measured reliably. The costs of new patents are capitalized in the statement of financial position and the 

costs relating to maintaining existing patents are expensed and presented in other operating expenses in the state-

ment of comprehensive income. The intangible assets have definite useful life. 

The estimated useful lives for intangible assets are as follows:

•	 Patents 10 years

•	 Licenses 5 years

2.9 Property, plant and equipment
Nanoform’s property, plant and equipment consists of leased premises and apartments (right-of-use assets), lease-

hold improvements and machinery and equipment. Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accu-

mulated depreciation and impairment losses. Costs include the purchase price and any costs directly attributable to 

bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended 

by the management. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

•	 Machinery and equipment: 4 years

•	 �Leased premises and apartments (right-of-use assets) based on the lease term or asset’s economic life,  

whichever is shorter

Depreciations are started when the asset is ready for use, in such location and condition that it can be used in a 

manner of the Company’s management has intended.  

	

2.10 Impairment
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever there are indications 

that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the 

asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is asset’s fair value less costs of dis-

posal or its value in use, whichever is higher. The value in use represents the discounted future cash flows expected 

to be derived from the asset.

2.11 Government grants
Government grants are recognized at fair value when it is reasonably certain that the grant will be received, and  

the Company will comply with all related conditions. Government grants are recognized as income in the statement 

of comprehensive income during the same period with the costs incurred that they are intended to compensate. 

The indirect government assistance in the form of below-market interest government loans is recognized as grant 

income and recorded as other operating income in the same period in which the Company recognizes the expenses 

which the benefit is intended to compensate. The grant component is measured as the difference between the initial 

fair value of the loan and the proceeds received. Government grant received, for which the expenses have not yet 

been recognized, is recognized as an advance received in the statement of financial position. The grant component 

for eligible expenses already incurred during the reporting period, for which the grant will be received in subse-
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quent reporting periods, is recognized as grant income in the statement of comprehensive income and as other 

receivable in the statement of financial position.

2.12 leases
Nanoform has early adopted IFRS 16 Leases standard (with effective date of January 1, 2019) for the financial year 

ended December 31, 2018. The standard has been applied retrospectively and all comparable reporting periods  

have been restated.

Nanoform has leased all its business premises. Lease contracts are made for a perpetual period or as fixed term 

of 3 to 5 years. A right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability are recognized in the statement of financial 

position at the date on which the leased asset is made available for use by the Company. Lease payments on the 

contracts are recognized as repayment of lease liability and interest expense. Right-of-use assets are depreciated 

over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term, whichever is shorter.

At the commencement date, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability are recognized at the dis-

counted present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The discounted present value of the 

lease payments includes the lease payments for non-cancellable lease period lease payments and lease payments  

for voluntary extension periods when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise the extension option. 

In the perpetual lease agreements including a termination option, the Company estimates if the termination option 

will be used when assessing the lease period. The Company uses incremental borrowing rate as discounting rate for 

lease payments. Lease payments of certain premises are adjusted for inflation index. Variable rents based on index 

are a part of the lease liability relating to lease contract and the net present values of such contracts are measured 

based on the index at the beginning of the lease period. Changes in index are measured in the period when the 

index is changed. Cash flows relating to leases are presented as repayments of lease liabilities under cash flows from 

financing activities and the interests from lease liabilities under cash flows from operating activities. The Company 

does not have short term or low-value lease contracts.

2.13 Financial assets and liabilities 
The Company’s financial liabilities consists of interest-bearing R&D loans, lease liabilities, trade payables and other 

non-current and current liabilities. Financial liabilities are recognized at the date on which the related contract has 

been made. Financial liability or part of it is derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is either dis-

charged or cancelled or expires. Financial liabilities are presented as current, if the Company has not implicit right to 

defer the settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case financial liabilities 

are presented as non-current.

The Company has R&D loans at below-market interest rate from government agency Business Finland.

The portion of interest at below the market interest rate represents government grant, which is recognized as 

income in the same period in which the Company incurs the expenses that the grant is intended to compensate. 

The loans are initially recognized and measured at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method. The fair value of the loans is measured by discounting the future cash flows from the loans using  

a rate for which the Company would receive comparable loan without the grant component. The grant component 

is measured as the difference between the initial fair value of the loan and the proceeds received.

Trade payables and other liabilities are classified as current liabilities if the Company has not implicit right to defer 

the settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period ahead from the end of financial period, 

in which case financial liabilities are recognized as a non-current liability. Trade payables and other liabilities are 

measured at amortized cost. Information of lease liabilities are provided in Leases section 2.12.

Financial assets are recognized at amortized cost including trade receivables, other receivables and cash and cash 

equivalents. Financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire.  

2.14 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognized at amounts of initial sale. The Company applies simplified approach in IFRS 9, 

according to which all trade receivables are deducted by lifetime expected credit losses. The lifetime expected credit 

losses are based on assumptions on probability of neglecting the payments and degree of expected losses. Management 

exercises judgment when calculating the allowance and assessing underlying assumptions. Management judgment 

relates to history of credit losses, assumptions on existing market conditions and forward-looking information at  

the end of each reporting period. Credit losses are recognized as other operating expenses. The Company has not 

recognized expected credit losses at financial reporting date.  

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of liquid funds in Company’s bank accounts.  

2.16 Provisions and contingent liabilities
A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 

and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of 

the amount can be made. Provisions are measured at the present value of the payments required to cover the obli-

gation. The discount factor used in calculation of the present value reflects the time value of money and specific 

risks related to the obligation. In case it is virtually certain that the Company will receive reimbursement to cover the 

obligation partially from a third party, the reimbursement is recognized as separate asset.
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A contingent liability is a possible obligation, that arises from past events and whose existence is confirmed only 

when an uncertain event outside the control of the Company is realized. An existing liability that is not likely to 

require the fulfilment of the payment obligation or whose amount cannot with sufficient reliability measured is also 

considered a contingent liability. At the reporting date the Company doesn’t have contingent liabilities. In the financial 

statements the Company has recognized a provision relating to an onerous customer contract.  

2.17 Equity
The equity of the Company consists of share capital, reserve for invested unrestricted equity and accumulated defi-

cit. The proceeds from new share issues, less incremental costs directly attributable to the issue, are recognized in 

the share capital if it is not decided in decision of share issue to recognize the subscription price in the reserve for 

invested unrestricted equity.

The accumulated deficit consists of the Company’s cumulated losses since foundation of the Company.

2.18 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of 

financial year and are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless the Company has 

an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 

period. The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be the same as their fair values.

2.19 Employee benefits 
Nanoform’s employee benefits consist of short-term employee benefits and post-employment benefits (defined 

contribution pension plans) and share-based payments. Nanoform’s defined contribution schemes are with external 

insurance companies and the Company does not have a legal or constructive obligation to make additional pay-

ments in case the recipient for pension contributions is unable to pay the pension benefits. The pension contribu-

tions are recognized as expenses in the statement of comprehensive income during the period to which the charge 

relates to.

Short-term employee benefits are recognized as expenses during the period in which related service is provided. 

A liability is recognized when the Company has a statutory and constructive obligation relating to employment rela-

tionship based on performance received and when an obligation can be measured reliable.

2.20 Share-based payments
The Company has option programs where the option holders are entitled to subscribe Company’s shares. The option 

rights are measured at fair value at grant date and recognized as expenses in the statement of comprehensive 

income during the vesting period. The service conditions are ignored in grant date fair value, but fulfilment of 

service conditions is taken into account as the Company revises its estimate on the amount of equity instruments 

that will eventually vest and its estimate on related expense. Cumulatively, expenses are recognized only for equity 

instruments granted that will vest. The expenses for option programs are recognized in employee benefits, with  

corresponding increase in equity.

At grant date, the expense recognized for the option programs is based on the Company’s estimate of the option 

rights that will vest during the vesting period. The estimate is revised at each reporting date. Changes in the estimate 

are recognized through profit and loss. The fair value of option rights is measured using Black-Scholes valuation 

model. When option rights are exercised, the proceeds from the subscription of shares are recognized in the reserve 

for invested unrestricted equity. Further information on the share-based payments are provided in the Note 22 – 

Share-based payments.

2.21 Operating profit
According to the definition used by the Company, operating profit is the net amount arising from adding other 

operating income to revenue, deducting cost of sales, deducting employee benefits, depreciation, amortization and 

impairment losses as well as other operating expenses. 

2.22 Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the loss for the year with the weighted average number of shares during 

the year.

Since the Company has reported losses, inclusion of unexercised option rights would decrease the loss per share 

and therefore not taken into account in diluted loss per share calculation.

2.23 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 
The IASB has made amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies (to be 

applied for annual periods on or after Jan, 1 2020). Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors which use a consist-

ent definition of materiality throughout International Financial Reporting Standards and the Conceptual Framework 

for Financial Reporting. Nanoform will apply the amended standards as applicable.
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3 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the Financial statements in accordance with the IFRS requires management to make judg-

ments, estimates and assumptions that affect the measurement of the reported assets and liabilities and other 

information, such as contingent assets and liabilities and the recognition of income and expenses in the statement 

of comprehensive income. Although these estimates and assumptions are based on the management’s best  

knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ from the estimates.

3.1 Going concern
As disclosed in note 2.3, Nanoform’s management has assessed the Company’s ability to continue its operations as 

going concern in foreseeable future and has developed financial forecasts for revenues, expenses and investments 

for the period covering the next twelve months. These financial forecasts are based on assumptions on future cash-

flows and their realization is uncertain. The Company’s management estimates that should the Company not obtain 

additional financing in 2020, current liquid funds are sufficient to continue the Company’s operations until December 

31, 2020 with significant downscaling through cost reductions and without engaging into planned growth investments.  

They have therefore prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

3.2 Revenue recognition
The Company recognizes revenue from customer contracts as it fulfils performance obligations by providing  

promised services and the revenue is recognized over time. Nanoform applies the input method in measuring the 

progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation. In input method, the fulfilment is measured by 

comparing the costs incurred relative to the total estimated costs of the performance obligation. Significant man-

agement judgment is required to determine the estimated total costs of performance obligations. Estimated costs 

are reviewed regularly during performing the services and revisions in forecasts and projected losses on service con-

tracts are recognized through the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they become known.

3.3	Leases
The company’s lease contracts include both extension and termination options. Management uses the options in 

managing lease contracts to ensure flexible use of premises in Company’s businesses. The Company’s management 

assess the use of extension and termination options individually for each lease contract. Based on management’s 

judgment, the Company will use extension options, which relate to premises that are significant to Company’s 

future operations and growth. Further, based on management judgment the Company will not use termination 

options on such perpetual lease contracts that are essential for business growth. These lease contracts are recog-

nized as long-term lease contracts. Further information is provided in Note 15 Property, plant and equipment.

3.4 Share-based payments
The Company recognizes expenses for share-based payments in the statement of comprehensive income. Manage-

ment uses judgment when determining certain assumptions used in the option pricing model, such as volatility, fair 

value of shares at the grant date, estimated amount of options that will eventually vest and the probable exercise 

date of options. The detailed information on the assumptions used in the measurement of share-based payments 

used are included in the Note 22 Share-based payments.  

4 Revenue
Nanoform recognizes revenue from customer contracts over time as the Company fulfills the performance obliga-

tion by performing the promised service. The method of measuring the progress towards completion of a perfor-

mance obligation is input method, in which the fulfillment is measured by comparing the costs incurred relative to 

the total estimated costs of the performance obligation. Significant management judgment is required to determine 

the estimated total costs of performance obligations. Estimated costs are reviewed regularly during performing the 

services and revisions in forecasts and projected losses on service contracts are recognized through the statement of 

comprehensive income in the period in which they become known. Total revenue in 2019 was EUR 49.1 (2018: 235.0; 

2017: 65.0) thousand. The Company’s revenue consists solely of customer contracts.

Contract assets and liabilities
Nanoform has recognized the following contract assets and liabilities from contracts with customers in its statement 

of financial position. 

EUR Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018 Dec 31, 2017 Jan 1, 2017

Prepaid expenses and accrued income -  
revenue accruals from percentage of  
completion method 13,988 0 0 0

Advances received - revenue accruals from 
percentage of completion method -34,894 0 0 0

The transaction prices allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations or included in contract liability balance is 

expected to be recognized as revenue during the first quarter of 2020.
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5 Segment reporting
The Company’s business is to offer expert services in nanotechnology and drug particle engineering. In the year  

2019 The Company’s operations have consisted of “proof of concept” type of research and development services  

provided to the customers, in which the Company has been nanoforming customer’s drug compounds. The Company’s 

chief operating decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer. The CEO manages the Company as one integrated 

business and hence, the Company has one operating and reportable segment. The revenue in 2019 was EUR 49.1 

(2018: 235.0; 2017: 65.0) thousand. The Company’s revenue during all the reported financial years is recognized from 

customer contracts outside of Finland (defined by the domicile of customer). During 2019, Company’s revenue con-

sisted of two customer contracts. Both customer contracts exceed 10 percentage of the revenue. 

The Company’s all non-current assets are in Finland. The Company’s strategy is to sell nanotechnological services 

widely to minimize the dependence from single customers or projects.  

6 Other operating income

EUR  2019 2018 (restated) 2017 (restated)

Grant component of the government loans 231,335 54,652 180,532

Other income 0 0 73

231,335 54,652 180,605

The grant component of government loans consists of indirect financial benefit from below-market interests of  

the government loans from the Business Finland. The loans have been granted to finance the development projects 

of nanotechnology.

7 Materials and services 

EUR  2019 2018 (restated) 2017 (restated)

Raw materials and consumables

Purchases during the period 506,001 160,994 147,906

External services 97,430 629 12,472

Total 603,431 161,624 160,378

The Company’s materials and services mainly consist of materials and supplies relating to the development of  

the Company’s production technology. 

8 Employee benefits 

EUR 2019 2018 2017

Wages and salaries 2,898,140 1,075,100 350,072

Pension expenses, defined contribution plans 374,755 193,324 66,149

Other social security expenses 219,109 30,300 9,981

Share-based payments - settled in equity 866,912 0 0

Total 4,358,917 1,298,723 426,203

2019 2018 2017

Number of personnel at the end of the period 43 19 12

Average number of personnel 33 17 12

The management compensation and share-based payments are disclosed in more detail in Notes 20 Share-based 

payments and 26 Related party transactions.
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9 Other operating expenses 

EUR  2019 2018 (restated) 2017 (restated)

Premises expenses 65,867 21,313 0

IT expenses 201,908 66,406 15,720

Marketing and communication expenses 312,060 101,151 670

Consultant and professional fees 857,613 319,135 20,160

Travel expenses 268,800 53,584 6,128

Voluntary personnel related expenses 304,009 52,862 8,289

Research and development expenses 27,521 0 0

Other expenses 180,320 41,925 27,427

Total 2,218,098 656,376 78,394

Auditor’s fee

EUR  2019 2018 (restated) 2017 (restated)

PricewaterhouseCoopers    

Audit fees 36,226 1,500 1,800

Other fees 48,926 0 0

Total 85,151 1,500 1,800

10 Depreciation and amortization

EUR  2019 2018 (restated) 2017 (restated)

Intangible assets 27,761 25,928 24,284

Property, plant and equipment 416,487 133,996 42,461

Total 444,248 159,924 66,746

11 Finance income and expense

EUR  2019 2018 (restated) 2017 (restated)

Finance income

Interest and other finance income 451 95 11

Total finance income 451 95 11

    

Finance expenses    

Interest expenses -138,989 -78,757 -34,964

Losses from foreign exchange -39,275 -1,118 0

Other finance expenses -31,442 -7,511 -205

Total finance expenses -209,707 -87,386 -35,169

The interest expense relates mainly to the R&D loans and lease liabilities. Other financial expenses consist of  

guarantee commission.

12 Taxes
The difference between income taxes at the statutory tax rate in Finland (20 per cent) and income taxes recognized 

in the statement of comprehensive income is reconciled as follows:

EUR  2019 2018 (restated) 2017 (restated)

Loss before tax -7,553,521 -2,074,286 -521,273

Income tax calculated at Finnish tax rate 20% -1,510,704 -414,857 -104,255

Tax losses and temporary differences for which  
no deferred tax asset is recognized 1,689,879 415,267 104,357

Non-deductible expenses and tax-exempt income -179,174 -410 -102

Taxes in the statement of comprehensive income 0 0 0
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Tax losses and deductible temporary differences for which no deferred assets have been recognized, are as follows: 

EUR 2019 2018 2017

R&D expenses not yet deducted in taxation 2,610,035 1,624,000 0

Tax losses carried forward 9,763,593 2,230,073 426,799

Temporary differences from property, plant and  
equipment 122,438 67,779 0

Provisions not deductible in taxation 19,079 0 0

Total 12,515,146 3,921,852 426,799

1)		� The Company has incurred research and development expenses especially in the year 2018, which have  

not yet been deducted in its taxation. The amounts deferred for tax purposes can be deducted over an  

indefinite period.

2)		 Tax losses carried forward expire over the period of 10 years. The tax losses will expire as follows:

EUR 2019 2018 2017

Expiry within 5 years 0 0 0

Expiry within 5–10 years 2,230,073 426,799 173,250

Total 2,230,073 426,799 173,250

The unconfirmed tax loss for 2019 is EUR -7,340.9 (2018: -1,803.3; 2017: -253.5) thousand. Related deferred tax  

assets have not been recognized in the statement of financial position due to uncertainty as to whether they can  

be utilized. The company has unprofitable history, which is considered a significant factor when assessing whether 

to recognize deferred tax assets. The Company does not have any other deductible or taxable temporary differences. 

For this reason, no deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized in the statement of financial position nor disclosed. 

The total value of unrecognized deferred tax assets is EUR 2,503.0 (2018: 784.4; 2017: EUR 85.4) thousand. 

13 Loss per share
The loss per share is measured by dividing loss for the year with the weighted average number of shares in issue.

EUR 2019 2018 (restated) 2017 (restated)

Loss for the year -7,553,521 -2,074,286 -521,273

Weighted average number of shares in issue 39,107,334 31,628,453 27,592,378

Basic and diluted loss per share -0.19 -0.07 -0.02

The Company’s potential dilutive instruments consist of share options granted in the years 2016 and 2019. Because 

the Company’s businesses have been unprofitable, share options would have an anti-dilutive effect and therefore 

they are not taken into account in measuring the dilutive loss per share. Therefore, there is no difference between 

the basic and the diluted loss per share. 
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14 Intangible assets

EUR Patents Licenses Total

Cost at Jan 1, 2017 (restated) 177,832 6,200 184,032

Additions (restated) 22,607 15,207 37,814

Cost at Dec 31, 2017 (restated) 200,439 21,407 221,846

Additions (restated) 14,994 0 14,994

Cost at Dec 31, 2018 (restated) 215,433 21,407 236,840

Additions 15,160 0 15,160

Cost at Dec 31, 2019 230,593 21,407 252,000

 

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses at  
Jan 1, 2017 (restated) -19,057 -1,240 -20,297

Amortization the financial year (restated) -20,003 -4,281 -24,284

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses  
at Dec 31, 2017 (restated) -39,061 -5,521 -44,581

Amortization for the financial year (restated) -21,647 -4,281 -25,928

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses  
at Dec 31, 2018 (restated) -60,708 -9,802 -70,510

Amortization for the financial year -23,480 -4,281 -27,761

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses  
at Dec 31, 2019 -84,188 -14,083 -98,271

 

Carrying amount

Dec 31, 2019 146,407 7,323 153,729

Dec 31, 2018 (restated) 154,726 11,604 166,330

Dec 31, 2017 (restated) 161,378 15,886 177,264

Jan 1, 2017 (restated) 158,775 4,960 163,735

15 Property, plant and equipment

EUR

Machinery 
and  

equipment
Right-of-use  

assets

Prepayments  
and construction 

in progress Total

Cost at Jan 1, 2017 (restated) 31,505 220,143 0 251,648

Additions (restated) 127,187 114,209 0 241,396

Cost at Dec 31, 2017 (restated) 158,692 334,352 0 493,044

Additions (restated) 219,523 1,563,973 87,150 1,870,647

Cost at Dec 31, 2018 (restated) 378,216 1,898,325 87,150 2,363,691

Additions 341,627 1,366,355 1,501,296 3,209,277

Cost at Dec 31, 2019 719,842 3,264,680 1,588,446 5,572,968

 

Accumulated depreciation and  
impairment losses

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses at Jan 1, 2017 (restated) -7,876 0 0 -7,876

Depreciation for the financial year (restated) -17,431 -25,030 0 -42,461

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses at Dec 31, 2017 (restated) -25,307 -25,030 0 -50,337

Depreciation for the financial year (restated) -41,383 -92,613 0 -133,996

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses at Dec 31, 2018 (restated) -66,690 -117,643 0 -184,333

Depreciation for the financial year -122,438 -294,049 0 -416,487

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses at Dec 31, 2019 -189,129 -411,691 0 -600,820

 

Carrying amount

Dec 31, 2019 530,713 2,852,989 1,588,446 4,972,148

Dec 31, 2018 (restated) 311,525 1,780,683 87,150 2,179,358

Dec 31, 2017 (restated) 133,385 309,322 0 442,707

Jan 1, 2017 (restated) 23,629 220,143 0 243,772
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The right-of-use assets consists of Nanoform’s leased premises. The lease contracts are either perpetual or fixed 

three-year contracts including extension option for six years. The perpetual lease contracts are recognized as long-

term lease contracts, if the management assesses that the termination options in the contracts will not be used  

(see Note 3.2).

In the year 2019 the interests from lease liabilities amounted to EUR 65.9 (2018: 25.2; 2017: 7.7) thousand.

Prepayments and construction in progress include the cost of clean room for which the regulatory approval is 

pending. The asset is ready for use when the approval is obtained. 

16 Non-current other receivables

EUR Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018 Dec 31, 2017 Jan 1, 2017

Other receivables 24,085 10,125 8,964 5,805

Total 24,085 10,125 8,964 5,805

Other receivables consist of rental security deposits paid by the Company.

17	 Current trade and other receivables and prepayments and accrued income

Aging of trade receivables

EUR Total Not past due < 30 days 30–60 days

2019 20,000 20,000 0 0

2018 160,000 160,000 0 0

2017 65,000 65,000 0 0

Jan 1, 2017 6,200 6,200 0 0

Prepaid expenses and accrued income

EUR Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018 Dec 31, 2017 Jan 1, 2017

Other prepayments 16,397 0 0 0

Contract assets 13,988 0 0 0

Other accrued income 28,369 18,456 992 158

Total 58,754 18,456 992 158

Other prepaid expenses consist of expenses paid in advance. Contract assets consist of accruals from customer  

contracts. Other accrued income consists of accrued purchase invoices.

Other receivables

EUR Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018 Dec 31, 2017 Jan 1, 2017

VAT receivables 208,040 79,428 0 3,769

Other receivables 170,430 0 0 35,650

Total 378,470 79,428 0 39,419

Other receivables include the R&D loan’s grant component, for which the corresponding costs are retained in  

the financial year 2019 and the loan is not yet drawn. Other receivables also include receivables from personnel.

18 Cash and cash equivalents

EUR Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018 Dec 31, 2017 Jan 1, 2017

Cash and cash equivalents 7,302,666 5,594,974 98,007 385,636

Total 7,302,666 5,594,974 98,007 385,636

Cash and cash equivalents correspond to the same item in the statement of cash flows.
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19 Shareholders’ equity
Changes in the number of shares, the amount of share capital and reserve for unrestricted equity:

Outstanding 
shares (pcs)

Treasury 
shares (pcs)

Total shares 
(pcs)

Share capital 
(EUR)

Reserve for  
unrestricted  
equity (EUR)

Jan 1, 2017 137,998 137,998 2,500 665,411

Dec 31, 2017 137,998 137,998 2,500 665,411

Jan 1, 2018 137,998 137,998 2,500 665,411

Acquisition of treasury shares,  
Jan 22, 2018 -3,250 3,250 0

Share issue, Jan 24, 2018 8,100 8,100 1,012,500

Bonus issue at Jun 8, 2018 28,426,752 646,750 29,073,502

Nullification of treasury shares, 
Jun 19, 2018 -650,000 -650,000

Share issue, Jun 21, 2018 7,368,420 7,368,420 6,342,249

Dec 31, 2018 35,938,020 0 35,938,020 2,500 8,020,160

Acquisition of treasury shares,  
May 10, 2019 -900,000 900,000 0

Nullification of treasury shares, 
May 10, 2019 -900,000 -900,000

Share issue, Jun 10, 2019 7,057,345 7,057,345 9,686,531

Dec 31, 2019 42,095,365 0 42,095,365 2,500 17,706,692

The Company has one class of shares. The shares of the Company do not have a nominal value. Each share entitles 

the holder to one vote at the General Meeting and to equal dividend. All shares are fully paid.

In the Shareholders’ agreement regarding the Company it has been agreed that in case of liquidation event or sale 

of the Company’s shares or substantially all business, certain shareholders have first priority to the funds available or 

consideration from trade sale. In these situations, these shareholders receive the higher of either a) the original sub-

scription price of the shares plus any possible resolved, but unpaid dividends pro-rata to their holding of shares. If the 

funds available for distribution are insufficient to pay full amounts to which they are entitled, the proceeds are distrib-

uted to investors pro-rata their original subscriptions; or b) all proceeds are divided pro-rata to all shareholders.

The subscription price of new shares is recognized in the share capital unless the share issue resolution states that 

it shall be recognized in full or partially in the reserve for invested unrestricted equity, where the transaction costs 

relating to issue are also netted. 

On January 22, 2018, the Company acquired 3,250 treasury shares. The shares were redeemed from an employee 

based on the Shareholders’ agreement. The redemption price was original subscription price of the shares. 

On January 24, 2018, the Board of Directors decided on a directed share issue based on the authorization from 

the shareholders on January 10, 2018. In the share issue a total of 8,100 new shares were issued. The subscription 

price of shares was EUR 125 per share. Proceeds from the share issue, EUR 1,012.5 thousand, were recognized in 

the reserve for invested unrestricted equity. On June 8, 2018, the shareholders decided on a bonus issue in which 

each share entitled to subscription of 199 new shares and total number of shares increased by 29,073,502 shares. On 

June 19, 2018, the Company nullified 650,000 treasury shares redeemed during the financial year 2018. On June 21, 

2018 the Company’s Board of Directors decided on a share issue based on the authorization of the general meeting 

on June 8, 2018. In the share issue, a total of 4,914,460 shares were issued at the subscription price of EUR 0.95 per 

share and 2,453,960 shares at the subscription price of SEK 9.60 per share. The total amount of subscribed shares 

amounted to 7,368,420 shares and the total proceeds from the share issue amounted to EUR 6,342.2 thousand.  

The proceeds from the share issue, net of transaction costs of EUR 622.2 thousand were recognized in the reserve 

for invested unrestricted equity. 

On May 10, 2019 the Company acquired 900,000 treasury shares The Board of Directors decided to acquire the 

shares from an employee based on authorization given by the general meeting. The total consideration paid for  

the shares was EUR 101.5 thousand. The shares were nullified on May 10, 2019.

On June 10, 2019, the Board of Directors decided on a directed share issue based on the authorization from the 

general meeting on March 27, 2019. In the share issue, 5,457,345 new shares were issued with the subscription price 

of EUR 1.42 per share and 1,600,00 shares were issued with the subscription price of SEK 15.10 per share. The total 

amount of subscribed shares amounted to 7,057,345 shares and the total proceeds from the share issue amounted 

to EUR 9,686,5 thousand. The proceeds from the share issue, net of transactions costs of EUR 359.3 thousand, were 

recognized in the reserve for invested unrestricted equity. 
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With unanimous shareholders’ decision on September 8, 2016, the Company decided to grant a total of 6,500 

options (option program 1/2016) to certain investors as a part of their equity investment. The options were issued 

with no consideration and each option entitles the option holder to subscribe one new share. After the bonus issue 

(1:200) on June 8, 2018 the amount of options is 1,300,000 and the options entitle to subscribe a total of 1,300,000 

shares at subscription price of EUR 0.32 per share. Right to subscribe shares began immediately upon the issue of 

options and the right to subscribe shares with the options ends at the earliest date of following a) September 30, 

2021 b) sale of the entire issued share capital of the Company or c) initial public offering. At the end of financial 

year December 31, 2019 all 1,300,000 options are outstanding and exercisable. 

EUR Dec 31, 2019
Dec 31, 2018 

(restated)
Dec 31, 2017 

(restated)
Jan 1, 2017  

(restated)

Accumulated deficit -2,223,845 -914,872 -393,598 -393,598

Loss for the year -7,553,521 -2,074,286 -521,273 0

Reserve for invested unrestricted 
equity 17,706,692 8,020,160 665,411 665,411

Total 7,929,326 5,031,003 -249,461 271,813

The Board of Directors’ proposal for distributing the profit: The Board proposes the loss for the period, amounting 

to EUR -7,553,521, is to be allocated to the accumulated deficit and that no dividend will be paid.

20 Share-based payments
Based on Shareholder’s agreement on May 26, 2016, the Company has a share-based incentive program for a group  

of employees that hold the shares in the Company. In certain leaver situations these employees are obligated to 

have their unvested shares redeemed by the Company. As the redemption price for the shares equals to the original 

subscription price of the shares (bad leaver) or the higher of the following; the original subscription price of the 

shares or the value based on net assets (good leaver), there is no employee benefit to be recognized for the plan. 

Hence, the Company has not recognized any share-based payment expenses for the program. The vesting periods 

are as follows:

Number of shares granted

Good leaver Bad leaver

Prior to Dec 1, 2016 100% of shares 20% of shares

Dec 2, 2016–Dec 1, 2017 100% of shares 35% of shares

Thereafter 100% of shares 50% of shares

The annual general meeting on March 27, 2019 decided to issue option rights to the members of the Board of Directors 

and authorized the Board of Directors to issue the option rights to bind the Company’s key personnel. The option 

rights were issued with no consideration. Each option right entitles the option holder to subscribe one new share  

and the option rights vest linearly so that the options are 100 per cent vested within one year from the grant date. 

The subscription period of the shares with option rights begins immediately upon the vesting of the option right.

If the option holder’s employment or service relationship with the Company or a company in the same group or 

the membership in the Company’s Board of Directors terminates for any reason, the option holder has to subscribe 

the shares within 90 or 30 days after the employment of service relationship has ended, after which the vested 

option rights are nullified without compensation. Unvested option rights are nullified immediately after employ-

ment or service relationship with the Company is terminated.

The volatility used in the valuation of option rights is based on five peer group companies, which are assessed to 

be the best estimate to reflect the risk level of the Company.

The key features and terms of the option programs are presented in the table below. 

Option program 1/2019 2/2019 3/2019 4/2019 5/2019

Maximum number of options 350,000 555,000 200,000 100,000 50,000

Exercise price, EUR 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10

Beginning of subscription period Linearly as the options are vested

End of subscription period Continue indefinitely

Vesting conditions Employment or service relationship during the vesting period

Distributable equity at December 31
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Determination of the fair value of  
the share options granted 1/2019 2/2019 3/2019 4/2019 5/2019

Share price at grant date, EUR 1.30 1.34 1.42 1.54 1.62

Subscription price of the Company 
share with options, EUR 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10

Volatility, % 65 65 65 65 65

Interest free rate, % 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01

Fair value of the option, EUR 0.74 0.78 0.84 0.94 1.00

Exercise date of the options After five years from the grant date of option right

Effect on earnings 2019, EUR 000 250 401 140 60 16

Number of share options 1/2019 2/2019 3/2019 4/2019 5/2019

Outstanding at Jan 1uary 0 0 0 0 0

Granted 350,000 555,000 200,000 100,000 50,000

Forfeited 0 -20,000 0 0 0

Exercised 0 0 0 0 0

Outstanding at December 31 350,000 535,000 200,000 100,000 50,000

Exercisable at December 31 335,555 517,334 166,773 64,155 16,435

21	 Financial risk management 
Nanoform is exposed to various financial risks such as liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk as 

well as credit and counterparty risk. Most significant risks relate to liquidity and foreign exchange rates. CFO is 

responsible for the Company’s risk management. The Company aims to minimize its risks with financing activities  

to the extent it is financially beneficial and reasonable.

Capital management and liquidity risk
Nanoform’s objective in managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue its operations and to 

enable the development and commercialization of its nanoforming technology in the future (see notes 2.3 and 18). 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, request for debt financing 

or change the realization of its planned growth investments. 

The Company’s management monitors the capital through net debt to equity ratio, which was positive 45.9 as at 

December 31, 2019 (2018: positive 63.5; 2017: negative 265.5; January 1, 2017: positive 12.9) percentage. Net debt 

includes interest-bearing liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents. interest bearing liabilities include R&D loans  

at below market-interest through government grants and lease liabilities.

EUR Dec 31, 2019
Dec 31, 2018 

(restated)
Dec 31, 2017 

(restated)
Jan 1, 2017 

(restated)

Net debt -3,639,940 -3,194,454 655,588 -35,258

Total equity 7,931,826 5,033,422 -246,961 274,313

Net debt equity ratio 45.9% 63.5% -265.5% 12.9%

Cash flow from operating activities for the financial year ended December 31, 2019 was EUR 5,798 thousand nega-

tive and cash outflow for investing activities was EUR 1,878 thousand. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents 

totaled to EUR 7,303 thousand as at December 31, 2019. The Company’s liquidity position is monitored regularly and 

projected both in short and long term to ensure that the Company has sufficient funding and cash and cash equivalents 

available to meet obligations when due. The management monitors the forecasts on the Company’s cash flows 

based on expected future cash flows. The Company has no committed credit facilities available.
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In the past, the Company has financed its operations mainly with equity financing and with R&D loans at below 

market-interest through government grants, and to lesser extent with income from contracts with customers. 

However, there can be no assurance that the Company will obtain sufficient financing in the future to carry out its 

planned activities and to engage into planned growth investments. In order to safeguard the Company’s ability to 

continue its operations as going concern in foreseeable future, the management aims to manage the capital to have 

sufficient liquidity and liquid funds available. When needed, the management may adjust the expenses and growth 

investments to correspond to the financing that is available.

The tables below disclose the Company’s financial liabilities based on relevant maturity groupings. The amounts 

disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

As at December 31, 2019, the contractual maturity of financial liabilities was as follows:

EUR 2020 2021 2022
2023 –  

thereafter Total

Lease liabilities 494,237 429,887 417,677 1,935,025 3,276,826

Trade payables 570,691 0 0 0 570,691

Repayment of R&D loans 77,500 77,500 77,500 731,268 963,768

Interest expenses of R&D loans 8,195 7,403 7,008 18,008 40,614

Total 1,150,622 514,790 502,185 2,684,301 4,851,899

As at December 31, 2018, the contractual (restated) maturity of financial liabilities was as follows:

EUR 2019 2020 2021
2022 –  

thereafter Total

Lease liabilities 240,833 240,833 240,833 1,365,093 2,087,592

Trade payables 452,268 0 0 0 452,268

Repayment of R&D loans 0 77,500 77,500 686,865 841,865

Interest expenses of R&D loans 8,419 8,195 7,403 21,653 45,670

Total 701,520 326,528 325,736 2,073,611 3,427,395

As at December 31, 2017, the contractual maturity of financial liabilities was as follows:

EUR 2018 2019 2020
2021 –  

thereafter Total

Lease liabilities 36,050 36,050 36,050 252,350 360,500

Trade payables 54,903 113,750 0 0 168,653

Repayment of R&D loans 0 0 77,500 621,365 698,865

Interest expenses of R&D loans 7,443 8,419 8,195 29,056 53,112

Total 98,396 158,219 121,745 902,771 1,281,130

As at January 1, 2017, the contractual maturity of financial liabilities was as follows:

EUR 2017 2018 2019
2020 –  

thereafter Total

Lease liabilities 29,237 23,520 23,795 190,360 266,912

Trade payables 91,540 52,500 113,750 0 257,790

Repayment of R&D loans 0 0 0 698,865 698,865

Interest expenses of R&D loans 3,868 7,443 8,419 37,250 56,980

Total 124,645 83,464 145,964 926,475 1,280,547
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Foreign exchange risk
Nanoform is exposed mainly to foreign exchange fluctuations arising from SEK and GBP. Currently all revenues and 

loans are nominated in euros, but expenses are partially nominated in GBP and SEK. The most significant currency 

exposure arises from the SEK 32 million cash position consisting of the cross-border equity private placement.  

A 10 per cent movement in SEK/EUR exchange rate would result in EUR 300 (2018: 170; 2017: 0) thousand change  

in net result and correspond to a 4-percentage movement in EUR 7.3 million cash and cash equivalent position as  

at December 31, 2019. As the exposure to currency risk is limited, Nanoform does not hedge its currency risk. 

Interest rate risk
Nanoform is exposed to a potential interest risk through its Business Finland loans and through its cash and cash 

equivalent balances. Interest on Business Finland loans is the base rate as defined by the Finnish Ministry of Finance 

minus three percentage points, subject to minimum rate of 1 per cent. As the interest during the reporting periods 

presented have been below the minimum level and the Company has paid the minimum interest of 1 per cent, the 

interest risk is considered as minimal. With respect of the cash and cash equivalent balances, there is a minor risk 

that the ECB, in the event of weakening economy, could lower its policy rates further or that the commercial banks 

would start to charge interest on cash deposits also from smaller companies like Nanoform. In the event of rising 

interest rates Nanoform would be a relative winner due to its positive net cash position. A one percentage point 

change in market interest rates would affect earnings by EUR 70 (2018: 50; 2017: 1) thousand. Nanoform does not 

hedge its interest rate risk.	  

Credit risk and counterparty risk	
The Company’s counterparty risk consists mainly of contracts between external customers, suppliers, partners in 

cooperation and financial institutions. Counterparty risk with financial institutions concerns creditworthy banks  

and financial institutions. Counterparty risk with the customer contracts is low because when selecting counterparty, 

only counterparties with high creditworthiness are approved. Counterparty creditworthiness is evaluated constantly, 

and the required actions are considered case by case if significant changes in the creditworthiness of a counterparty 

occur. Credit risk is managed by defining the rules for payment terms, authorizations and credit control. The credit 

quality is evaluated both on the basis of the aging of the receivables as well as the basis of individual case by case 

customer analysis in order to identify customers with potential higher credit risk due to individual customer specific 

reasons. The expected credit loss for the trade receivables is recognized on the basis of this credit quality evaluation. 

The Company follows credit rating of customers given by credit institutions. 

22 Financial assets and liabilities

EUR Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018 Dec 31, 2017 Jan 1, 2017

Financial assets measured  
at amortized cost

Trade receivables 20,000 160,000 65,000 6,200

Other receivables 170,430 0 0 35,650

Cash and cash equivalents 7,302,666 5,594,974 98,007 385,636

Total 7,493,096 5,754,974 163,007 427,486

EUR Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018 Dec 31, 2017 Jan 1, 2017

Financial liabilities measured  
at amortized cost

Trade payables 570,691 449,737 159,833 196,280

Lease liabilities 2,986,097 1,845,984 312,866 220,143

R&D loans 676,629 554,537 440,729 130,235

Total 4,233,417 2,850,258 913,427 546,658

Government loans
Fair value of the R&D loans from Business Finland is calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows for the 

loans using appropriate interest rate at the reporting date. The discount rate considers the risk-free interest rate 

and estimated margin for the company’s own credit risk. The discount rate in 2019 has been used 7 percentage and 

in the financial years 2017-2018 10 percentage. Discounted future cash flows are derived from the loan terms con-

taining the timing and the amounts of repayment and the cash payments for interest. The valuation of R&D loans 

relies on unobservable market data, and the loans are classified in Level 3 (Measurement of financial instruments is 

not based on verifiable market information).			 

In 2019, the carrying amount of R&D loans was EUR 676.6 thousand and their fair value was EUR 766.0 (2018: 

554.5; 2017: 440.7) thousand. In the comparison years of financial statements, the carrying amounts of the loans  

correspond to their fair value. 
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R&D loans are granted to specific development projects and cover a contractually defined portion of the underlying 

development project’s R&D expenses. The below-market interest rate for these loans is the base rate set by the 

Ministry of Finance minus three (3) percentage points, subject to a minimum rate of 1 per cent. Repayment of these 

loans shall be initiated after 5 years, thereafter loan principals shall be paid back in equal instalments over a 5-year 

period, unless otherwise agreed with Business Finland. The interests on R&D loans amounted to EUR 62.1 (2018: 

45.7; 2017: 23.9) thousand.

Net debt reconciliation

Other assets Liabilities from financing activities

EUR Cash and cash equivalents Short-term lease liabilities Long-term lease liabilities Short-term R&D loans Long-term R&D loans Total

Net debt as at Jan 1, 2017 385,636 0 -220,143 0 -130,235 35,258

Cash flows -287,629 0 29,237 0 -502,807 -761,199

Other non-cash movements 0 -27,250 -94,710 0 192,313 70,353

Net debt as at Dec 31, 2017 (restated) 98,007 -27,250 -285,616 0 -440,729 -655,588

Cash flows 5,496,968 56,143 0 0 -143,000 5,410,111

Other non-cash movements 0 -218,481 -1,370,811 0 29,192 -1,560,100

Net debt as at Dec 31, 2018 (restated) 5,594,974 -189,588 -1,656,427 0 -554,537 3,194,422

Cash flows 1,739,454 292,120 0 0 -121,903 1,909,671

Other non-cash movements -31,763 -515,606 -916,597 -77,500 77,311 -1,464,155

Net debt as at Dec 31, 2019 7,302,666 -413,074 -2,573,024 -77,500 -599,129 3,639,940

22.1 Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Net debt reconciliation

EUR Dec 31, 2019
Dec 31, 2018 

(restated)
Dec 31, 2017 

(restated)
Jan 1, 2017  

(restated)

Cash and cash equivalents 7,302,666 5,594,974 98,007 385,636

Short-term R&D loans -77,500 0 0 0

Long-term R&D loans -599,129 -554,537 -440,729 -130,235

Short-term lease liabilities -413,073 -189,588 -27,250 -9,385

Long-term lease liabilities -2,573,024 -1,656,396 -285,616 -210,758

Net debt 3,639,940 3,194,454 -655,588 35,258
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23	 Provisions

EUR Onerous contracts

Carrying amount at Jan 1, 2017 0

Carrying amount at Dec 31, 2017 0

Carrying amount at Dec 31, 2018 0

Amounts recognized during the year 19,079

Amounts used during the year 0

Unused amounts reversed 0

Carrying amount at Dec 31, 2019 19,079

EUR 2019 2018 2017 Jan 1, 2017

Long-term provisions 0 0 0 0

Short-term provisions 19,079 0 0 0

Total 19,079 0 0 0

In 2019 the Company has recognized a provision from an onerous customer contract amounting to  

EUR 19.1 thousand.

24 Trade payables and other current liabilities

EUR Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018 
Dec 31, 2017 

(restated) Jan 1, 2017

Holiday pay accrual 252,920 104,606 47,154 17,488

Pension contributions and  
other statutory personnel related 
insurance premium 26,210 0 3,842 473

Interest expenses 4,476 4,379 2,337 469

Other accruals 292,284 172,604 72,790 0

Total 575,889 281,590 126,124 18,431

Other accruals include the accrued bonus payment of the management and the accrued acquisition cost of assets.

25 Contingencies and commitments

Lease commitments 

EUR Dec 31, 2019
Dec 31, 2018 

(restated) Dec 31, 2017 Jan 1, 2017

Within one year 0 0 0 0

Later than one year but not  
late than five years 0 708,600 0 0

Later than five years 0 366,110 0 0

Total 0 1,074,710 0 0

The Company’s lease commitments in the comparative year consist of a of lease contract of premises, that was 

signed during the financial year 2018, but for which the lease commencement date was September 1, 2019.

The patents acquired from University of Helsinki in 2015 have been pledged as a guarantee of unpaid consideration. 

The acquisition cost of the patents was EUR 175.0 thousand and the corresponding unpaid liability was in 2018 EUR 

113.7 (2017: 166.2) thousand. The acquisition price has been fully paid in 2019.

The Company does not have any other commitments or contingencies to be reported.
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Disputes and litigations
The Company’s management is not aware of any open disputes or litigations, which could have a significant impact 

on the Company’s financial position.

26	 Related party transactions
The Company’s related parties are as follows:	

•	 �The University of Helsinki, which has a significant influence over the Company based on the ownership of  

14.5 (2018: 17.0; 2017: 20.7) percentage and its right to nominate a representative to the Company’s Board  

of Directors.				  

•	 �Members of the Board of Directors and their closely related family members and the entities over which  

they have control or joint control				  

•	 �Company’s leadership team and their closely related family members and the entities over which they  

have control or joint control		

Nanoform has not had interests in other entities as at and for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Key management personnel	
The Company’s key management personnel consist of the members of the Board of Directors and the leadership team 

including CEO.		

During 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors consisted of Rabbe Klemets, Albert Hæggström and Jouko Yliruusi 

(until March 27, 2019), replaced by Miguel Calado as of March 27, 2019. In Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of 

September 10, 2019 Mads Laustsen was appointed as member of the Board of Directors.

Compensation and fees recognized as expenses for the members of the Board of Directors

             2019             2018             2017

EUR Fees Share-based payments Fees Share-based payments Fees Share-based payments

Rabbe Klemets 29,997 106,953 0 0 0 0

Miguel Maria Calado 22,500 71,302 0 0 0 0

Albert Hæggström, CFO 19,992 71,302 0 0 0 0

Mads Laustsen 6,664 60,015 0 0 0 0

Jouko Yliruusi 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 79,153 309,572 0 0 0 0
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EUR CEO Leadership team*)

2019

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 109,100 836,453

Post-employment benefits 23,976 124,634

Share-based payments 0 274,570

Total 133,076 1,235,658

 

2018

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 31,500 228,845

Post-employment benefits 5,969 41,148

Share-based payments 0 0

Total 37,469 269,993

 

2017

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 12,720 5,000

Post-employment benefits 2,417 950

Share-based payments 0 0

Total 15,137 5,950

*) The leadership team without CEO, who’s employee benefits are presented separately.

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits consist of salaries and benefits, incentive bonuses and performance 

bonuses. Contributions to statutory pension schemes are presented in the post-employment benefits.	

CEO’s period of notice is two months and severance pay is EUR 50 thousand in case of termination by  

the Company. The retirement age corresponds to the Finnish Statutory Employment Pension Scheme.				 

During 2019, a total of 830,000 options were granted to the members of the Board of Directors and the  

leadership team, of which a total of 350,000 options were granted to the members of the Board of Directors,  

excluding the CFO. More information from Notes to the Financial Statements 20 Share-based payments.

Management shareholding Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018 Dec 31, 2017 Jan 1, 2017

Number of shares (pcs) 9,672,150 9,652,150 48,000 48,000

Shareholding, percentage 23.0% 26.9% 34.8% 34.8%

Board shareholding*) Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018 Dec 31, 2017 Jan 1, 2017

Number of shares (pcs) 526,000 526,000 2,500 2,500

Shareholding, percentage 1.2% 1.5% 1.8% 1.8%

Total number of shares outstanding  
at December 31, 2019 (pcs) 42,095,365 35,938,020 137,998 137,998

*) Board of Directors’ shareholding, excluding the members of the leadership team

Transactions with related parties and open balance

EUR 2019 2018 2017

Purchases of materials and services  
from the University of Helsinki 159,218 65,323 3,187

EUR Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018 Dec 31, 2017 Jan 1, 2017

Liabilities regarding purchases  
of materials and services from  
the University of Helsinki 0 141,050 206,150 206,150

Liabilities to key management  
personnel - bonus payment 231,504 172,604 0 0

Total 231,504 313,654 206,150 206,150
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27	 First-time adoption to IFRS standards
Nanoform prepared its first financial statements in accordance with IFRS for the financial year ended on December 

31, 2018, including comparative financial information for the financial year ended on December 31, 2017 and the 

opening statement of financial position as of January 1, 2017. Nanoform’s financial statements were prepared previ-

ously in accordance with Finnish Accounting Standards (“FAS”). In these financial statements, the Company presents 

restated information on first-time adoption of IFRS standards, as it has restated previously published financial  

statements as described in Note 2.2.

The Company has early adopted IFRS 16 Leases standard and applied the following first-time adopter’s practical 

expedients. Lease liability is measured at present value of the remaining lease payments at the date of transition 

using the lessee’s incremental discount rate. A single discount rate has been applied to all lease contracts with similar 

characteristics. Right-of-use assets are measured at the date of transition at the amount equal to the lease liability.
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EUR 
FAS 

2017 
Adj. FAS  

2017 Intangible assets Leases Financial instruments Effects of transition to IFRS
IFRS  

2017 (restated)

Revenue 65,000 0 0 0 0 0 65,000

 0

Other operating income 73 0 0 0 180,532 180,532 180,605

 

Production to own use 540,019 0 -540,019 0 0 -540,019 0

Materials and services -214,776 54,397 0 0 0 0 -160,378

Employee benefits -426,202 0 0 0 0 0 -426,202

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses -106,928 -22,887 88,099 -25,030 0 63,069 -66,746

Other operating expenses -107,631 0 0 29,237 0 29,237 -78,394

 

Operating loss -250,444 31,510 -451,920 4,207 180,532 -267,181 -486,115

 

Finance income 11 0 0 0 0 0 11

Finance losses -3,360 0 -189 -7,750 -23,869 -31,809 -35,169

 

Loss before tax -253,794 31,510 -452,109 -3,544 156,663 -298,989 -521,273

 

Income tax 0 , 0 0 0 0 0

 

Loss for the year -253,794 31,510 -452,109 -3,544 156,663 -298,989 -521,273

Statement of comprehensive income 2017
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EUR 
FAS  

Dec 31, 2017
Adj. FAS  

2017 Intangible assets Leases Financial instruments Effects of transition to IFRS
IFRS 

Dec 31, 2017 (restated)

ASSETS       

        

Non-current assets        

Intangible assets 805,123 139,948 -767,807 0 0 -767,807 177,265

Property, plant and equipment 17,721 115,664 0 309,322 0 309,322 442,707

Other receivables 8,964 0 0 0 0 0 8,964

Deferred tax receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total non-current assets 831,809 255,612 -767,807 309,322 0 -458,484 628,936

 

Current assets

Trade receivables 65,000 0 0 0 0 0 65,000

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 992 0 0 0 0 0 992

Cash and cash equivalents 98,007 0 0 0 0 0 98,007

Total current assets 163,998 0 0 0 0 0 163,998

 

Total assets 995,807 255,612 -767,807 309,322 0 -458,484 792,934

Statement of financial position Dec 31, 2017
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EUR 
FAS  

Dec 31, 2017
Adj. FAS  

2017 Intangible assets Leases Financial instruments Effects of transition to IFRS
IFRS 

Dec 31, 2017 (restated)

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES        

        

Equity        

Share capital 2,500 0 0 0 0 0 2,500

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 665,411 0 0 0 0 0 665,411

Accumulated deficit -173,256 -14,939 -306,878 0 101,473 -205,405 -393,599

Loss for the year -253,794 31,510 -452,109 -3,544 156,663 -298,990 -521,274

Total equity 240,861 16,572 -758,986 -3,544 258,136 -504,395 -246,962

 

Non-current liabilities

R&D loans 698,865 0 0 0 -258,136 -258,136 440,729

Lease liabilities 0 0 0 285,616 0 285,616 285,616

Trade payables 0 113,750 -8,820 0 0 -8,820 104,930

Total non-current liabilities 698,865 113,750 -8,820 285,616 -258,136 18,659 831,274

 

Current liabilities

Lease liabilities 0 0 0 27,250 0 27,250 27,250

Trade payables 2,403 52,500 0 0 0 0 54,903

Other liabilities 344 0 0 0 0 0 344

Accrued expenses 53,333 72,790 0 0 0 0 126,123

Total current liabilities 56,080 125,290 0 27,250 0 27,250 208,620

 

Total liabilities 754,945 239,040 -8,820 312,866 -258,136 45,909 1,039,894

 

Total equity and liabilities 995,807 255,612 -767,807 309,322 0 -458,485 792,934

Statement of financial position Dec 31, 2017
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EUR 
FAS  

Jan 1, 2017
Adj. FAS  

2017 Intangible assets Leases Financial instruments Effects of transition to IFRS
IFRS

Jan 1, 2017 (restated)

ASSETS        

        

Non-current assets        

Intangible assets 328,311 151,311 -315,888 0 0 -315,888 163,734

Property, plant and equipment 23,629 0 0 220,143 0 220,143 243,772

Other receivables 5,805 0 0 0 0 0 5,805

Total non-current assets 357,744 151,311 -315,888 220,143 0 -95,744 413,311

 

Current assets

Trade receivables 6,200 0 0 0 0 0 6,200

Other receivables 3,769 0 0 0 35,650 35,650 39,419

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 158 0 0 0 0 0 158

Cash and cash equivalents 385,636 0 0 0 0 0 385,636

Total current assets 395,763 0 0 0 35,650 35,650 431,413

Total assets 753,507 151,311 -315,888 220,143 35,650 -60,094 844,724

Statement of financial position Jan 1, 2017
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EUR 
FAS  

Jan 1, 2017
Adj. FAS  

2017 Intangible assets Leases Financial instruments Effects of transition to IFRS
IFRS

Jan 1, 2017 (restated)

EQUITY AND LIABILITES        

        

Equity        

Share capital 2,500 0 0 0 0 0 2,500

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 665,411 0 0 0 0 0 665,411

Accumulated deficit -173,255 -14,939 -306,878 0 101,473 -205,405 -393,599

Loss for the year 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total equity 494,656 -14,939 -306,878 0 101,473 -205,405 274,312

 

Non-current liabilities

R&D loans 196,058 0 0 0 -65,823 -65,823 130,235

Lease liabilities 0 0 0 210,758 0 210,758 210,758

Advances received 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Trade payables 0 166,250 -9,010 0 0 -9,010 157,240

Total non-current liabilities 196,058 166,250 -9,010 210,758 -65,823 135,926 498,234

 

Current liabilities

Lease liabilities 0 0 0 9,385 0 9,385 9,385

Trade payables 39,040 0 0 0 0 0 39,040

Other liabilities 5,323 0 0 0 0 0 5,323

Accrued expenses 18,431 0 0 0 0 0 18,431

Total current liabilities 62,793 0 0 9,385 0 9,385 72,178

 

Total liabilities 258,851 166,250 -9,010 220,143 -65,823 145,311 570,412

Total equity and liabilities 753,507 151,311 -315,888 220,143 35,650 -60,094 844,724

Statement of financial position Jan 1, 2017
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Intangible assets
When applying IAS 38 standard to intangible assets arising from development projects, Nanoform has expensed  

all development costs capitalized under FAS in the statement of comprehensive income. In accordance with FAS, 

internally developed intangible rights may be recognized as assets following the principle of prudence, assuming 

that such rights are expected to generate economic benefits during more than one financial period. The develop-

ment costs include employee benefits and other expenses directly attributable to development projects. The Com-

pany will recognize the nanotechnology development costs as an intangible asset when technical and commercial 

feasibility of the product can be demonstrated, and it is reasonably certain that asset from developed nanotechnology 

will generate future economic benefits.

In the opening balance as of January 2017, capitalized development of EUR 306.9 thousand have been derecog-

nized to the accumulated deficit. Under FAS capitalized development costs have been presented on gross basis as 

income under line item ‘Production to own use’ in the statement of comprehensive income, which has been set 

to zero in IFRS transition. The amortization of capitalized development costs in the statement of comprehensive 

income have been adjusted as well. During the financial year ended December 31, 2018, carrying amount of capital-

ized development expenses derecognized to expenses amounted to EUR 758.8 thousand, decrease in ‘Production to 

own use’ income amounted to EUR 540.0 thousand and reversal of financial period amortization EUR 88.1 thousand.

In 2015 the Company acquired patents with a contract, in which the consideration was settled in several instal-

ments during years 2015-2019. According to FAS, the Company had recognized the cost of the patents on a cash 

flow basis. Since the Company received the control over the patents already in 2015 and the asset acquired fulfilled 

the other recognition criteria for an intangible asset, the Company has adjusted intangible assets and trade payable 

on Jan 1, 2017. The Company presents the adjustment as a FAS adjustment in the IFRS statement of financial posi-

tion. The adjustments increased intangible assets as of January 1, 2017 by EUR 140.0 thousand, trade payables by 

EUR 157.2 and the net impact of EUR 17.2 thousand was recognized in the accumulated deficit. As of December 31, 

2017, the adjustments increased intangible assets by EUR 124.3 thousand and trade payables by EUR 157.4 thousand. 

Under IFRS the liability has been discounted to present value. Further, the Company has revised the useful economic 

lives of patents and concluded, that the five-year amortization period previously used did not reflect the average 

legal protection period of the patents. The Company has therefore lengthened the amortization period for the pat-

ents to 10 years and adjusted the amortizations retrospectively effective from the acquisition dates. As a result, the 

carrying value of intangible assets is EUR 2.3 thousand higher in the opening IFRS statement of financial position as of 

January 1, 2017. As of December 31, 2017, the carrying value of the patents is EUR 6.7 thousand higher, respectively. 

During the financial period 2017, the amortizations have been adjusted by EUR 4.4 thousand, respectively.

Leases
Nanoform has early adopted IFRS 16 Leases -standard. As a result of the adoption, all lease agreements are rec-

ognized in the statement of financial position. In accordance with IFRS 16, the Company recognizes a right-of-use 

asset and a finance liability corresponding to lease payments in the statement of financial position. Under FAS, lease 

payments are recognized in other operating expenses straight-line over the lease term and future lease payments 

subsequent to financial year-end are disclosed as off-balance sheet commitments. Under IFRS, lease payments are 

adjusted from other operating expenses to instalments of lease liability and to interest expense. Right-of-use assets 

recognized in the statement of financial position are depreciated. 

In the opening IFRS statement of financial position as of January 1, 2017, the Company has recognized right-of-

use assets as presented in line item ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and corresponding lease liabilities amounting to 

EUR 220.1 thousand. The carrying value of right-of-use assets in the statement of financial position as of December 

31, 2017 was EUR 309.3 thousand and lease liabilities were EUR 312.9 thousand. In 2017, the depreciations of right-

of-use assets were EUR 25.0 thousand, other operating expenses were decreased by EUR 29.2 thousand and financial 

expenses were increased by EUR 7.8 thousand.  

Government grants and financial instruments
Nanoform has government loans at below-market interest from Business Finland. The loans are granted to specific 

development projects and cover contractually defined portion of the underlying development project’s R&D 

expenses. The below-market interest rate for these loans is the base rate set by the Ministry of Finance minus three 

(3) percentage points, subject to a minimum rate of 1 per cent. Under FAS, indirect government grants are not  

recognized, and loans are recognized at nominal value. Under IFRS financial statements, the Company has recog-

nized indirect government grant as a difference between the initial fair value of the loan and the proceeds received. 

The fair values of the loans are measured by discounting estimated future cash flows of the loans using the Company’s 

estimation on market rate to the loan. 

The indirect government assistance in the form of government loans is recognized as grant income and recorded 

as other operating income in the same period in which the company recognizes the expenses for which the benefit 

is intended to compensate. The income recognized for the share of government grant component, for which corre-

sponding loan is not yet withdrawn, is presented as other receivables in the statement of financial position. 

In the opening balance as of January 1, 2017, the fair value adjustment of the loans decreased the carrying 

amount of R&D loans by EUR 65.8 thousand. The government grant recognized as income, from which correspond-

ing loan was not yet withdrawn, amounted to EUR 35.7 thousand and has been recognized in other receivables. 
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The adjustments decreased the accumulated deficit in the opening IFRS statement of financial position by EUR 101.5 

thousand. The fair value adjustment of the loans as of December 31, 2017 decreased the carrying amount of R&D 

loans by EUR 258.1 thousand. In the statement of comprehensive income for 2017, the government grants of EUR 

180.5 thousand was recognized in other operating income and interest on R&D loans amounting to EUR 23.9 thou-

sand in the finance expenses. 

Property, plant and equipment
The Company has capitalized acquisition costs of certain machinery and equipment, which were previously recog-

nized as expenses. The correction has been presented as a FAS adjustment as the criteria for capitalizing a property, 

plant and equipment asset in the statement of financial position has also been met in the financial statements in 

accordance with FAS. These adjustments have not impact on the opening IFRS statement of financial position, but as 

a result, the carrying value of property, plant and equipment is EUR 115.7 thousand higher and accrued expenses are 

EUR 72.8 thousand higher as of December 31, 2017, respectively. For the financial year 2017, the depreciation expense 

increased by EUR 11.5 thousand, and the materials and services decreased by EUR 54.4 thousand, respectively. 

28 Events after reporting date
Nanoform has established a subsidiary, Nanoform USA Inc., in the United States and appointed Sally Langa as Head 

of US Sales. The company operates as a sales company in the US markets. During 2020 Head of US Sales was also 

appointed to company’s Leadership Team.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, Authorised Public Accountants, P.O. Box 1015 (Itämerentori 2), FI-00101 HELSINKI 
Phone +358 20 787 7000, fax +358 20 787 8000,  www.pwc.fi   
Reg. Domicile Helsinki, Business ID 0486406-8 

 

Auditor’s Report (Translation of the Finnish Original) 

To the Annual General Meeting of Nanoform Finland Oy 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Opinion  
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the company’s financial performance and 
financial position in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU 
and comply with statutory requirements. 

What we have audited 
We have audited the financial statements of Nanoform Finland Oy (business identity code 2730572-8) for the 
year ended 31 December 2019. The financial statements comprise the statement of financial position, statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement of  cash flows and notes to the financial 
statements. 

Basis for Opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland. Our responsibilities under good 
auditing practice are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements 
section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are applicable in Finland 
and are relevant to our audit, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 
We draw attention to the note 2.3 in the financial statements which describe the company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. The company plans to raise new equity in 2020.  As there are no binding commitments for such 
financing at the date of approval of these financial statements, these circumstances represent material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as going concern. 
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial  
Statements 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 
EU and comply with statutory requirements. The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are also 
responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for 
assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The financial statements are prepared using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or there 
is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with good auditing practice will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with good auditing practice, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
company’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events so that the financial 
statements give a true and fair view.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
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Other Reporting Requirements 

Other Information  
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the report of the Board of Directors.  

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. Our responsibility also includes 
considering whether the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the applicable 
laws and regulations. 

In our opinion, the information in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the information in the 
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the applicable 
laws and regulations. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the report of the 
Board of Directors, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Helsinki 17 March 2020 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy 
Authorised Public Accountants 

 

Tomi Moisio 
Authorised Public Accountant (KHT, JHT) 
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Financial ratio definition and description of usage

Ratio Definition Use

EBITDA Operating loss before depreciation, amortization and 

impairment losses

EBITDA shows the accumulated profit generated by the business

Equity ratio, % Total equity

Total assets – advances received

Equity ratio helps to identify risks that relates to financing and  

is a useful measurement that is used by management to monitor 

the capital level used in the business. 

Gearing, % Interest-bearing net debt

Total equity

Gearing ratio helps to identify risks that relate to financing and is 

a useful measurement that is used by the management to monitor 

the gearing level. Significant measure of the loan portfolio.

Gearing, %*) (Interest bearing net debt

Non-current and current lease liabilities) / total equity

Gearing ratio excluding lease liabilities helps to identify risks  

that relate to financing and is a useful measurement that is used  

by the management to monitor the gearing level. Significant  

measurement of the loan portfolio.

Interest-bearing net debt Non-current and current R&D loans + non-current and  

current lease liabilities - cash and cash equivalents

Interest-bearing net debt is a measurement that shows the total 

amount of net external debt finance

Interest-bearing net debt*) Non-current and current R&D loans -  

cash and cash equivalents

Interest-bearing net debt excluding lease liabilities is a measurement 

that shows the total amount of net external debt finance excluding 

lease liabilities

Investments Additions to intangible assets, machinery and  

equipment and construction in progress

Investments present the amount of total investments made  

during the period

*) Excluding lease liabilities
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